Contents lists available at ScienceDirect





journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/scitotenv

Review Ultraviolet C irradiation: A promising approach for the disinfection of public spaces?



Ana Rita Pereira ^{a,b}, Daniel F.O. Braga ^c, Mariana Vassal ^c, Inês B. Gomes ^{a,b}, Manuel Simões ^{a,b,*}

^a LEPABE - Laboratory for Process Engineering, Environment, Biotechnology and Energy, Faculty of Engineering, University of Porto, Rua Dr. Roberto Frias, 4200-465 Porto, Portugal

^b ALICE - Associate Laboratory in Chemical Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, University of Porto, Rua Dr. Roberto Frias, 4200-465 Porto, Portugal

SpinnerDynamics, Lda., Rua da Junta de Freguesia 194, Escariz, 4540-322 Arouca, Portugal

HIGHLIGHTS

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT

- UV-C emerges as an alternative to harmful and (eco)toxic chemical disinfectants.
- Far-UV-C can eliminate pathogens in spaces with simultaneous human presence.
- Autonomous UV-C-based devices/robots reduce manual work and process costs.
- No consensus exists on UV-C safety and human exposure.



ARTICLE INFO

Editor: Damia Barcelo

Keywords: Microbial contamination SARS-CoV-2 UVC devices UVC disinfection UVC safety

ABSTRACT

Ultraviolet irradiation C (UVC) has emerged as an effective strategy for microbial control in indoor public spaces. UVC is commonly applied for air, surface, and water disinfection. Unlike common 254 nm UVC, far-UVC at 222 nm is considered non-harmful to human health, being safe for occupied spaces, and still effective for disinfection purposes. Therefore, and allied to the urgency to mitigate the current pandemic of SARS-CoV-2, an increase in UVC-based technology devices appeared in the market with levels of pathogens reduction higher than 99.9 %. This environmentally friendly technology has the potential to overcome many of the limitations of traditional chemical-based disinfection approaches. The novel UVC-based devices were thought to be used in public indoor spaces such as hospitals, schools, and public transport to minimize the risk of pathogens contamination and propagation, saving costs by reducing manual cleaning and equipment maintenance provided by manpower. However, a lack of information about UVC-based parameters and protocols for disinfection are presented. Furthermore, a deep analysis of UVC-based technologies available in the market for the disinfection of public spaces is addressed, as well as their advantages and limitations. This comprehensive analysis provides valuable inputs and strategies for the development of effective, reliable, and safe UVC disinfection systems.

* Corresponding author at: LEPABE - Laboratory for Process Engineering, Environment, Biotechnology and Energy, Faculty of Engineering, University of Porto, Rua Dr. Roberto Frias, 4200-465 Porto, Portugal.

E-mail address: mvs@fe.up.pt (M. Simões).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.163007

Received 9 December 2022; Received in revised form 10 March 2023; Accepted 18 March 2023 Available online 23 March 2023

0048-9697/© 2023 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction	2				
2.	UVC mechanism of inactivation and kinetics	3				
	2.1. UV inactivation kinetics.	4				
3.	Factors affecting UV inactivation	5				
	3.1. Microbial characteristics	5				
	3.2. Target product characteristics	5				
	3.3. Treatment parameters	7				
	3.4. Equipment parameters and design	8				
4.	Applications of UVC light sources	9				
	4.1. Mercury-vapour UVC lamps	9				
	4.2. UVC light-emitting diodes (UVC-LEDs)	9				
	4.3. Pulsed UVC light	. 10				
	4.4. Excimer lamps: far-UVC light	. 10				
	4.4.1. Far-UVC light: an alternative to standard UVC light sources	. 11				
	4.5. Microplasma UVC lamps	. 11				
5.	Complementary UVC disinfection strategies	. 11				
6.	UVC technological devices: robots	. 11				
	6.1. Algorithms in technological UVC devices	. 12				
	6.2. Are UVC robots safe for humans?	. 18				
	6.3. Limitations of UVC technological devices	. 19				
	6.3.1. Operational issues	. 19				
	6.3.2. Environmental and health safety issues	. 19				
7.	Conclusions and perspectives.	. 19				
Fune	nding	. 19				
CRe	ediT authorship contribution statement	. 19				
Data	ta availability	. 19				
Dec	claration of competing interest	. 20				
Refe	References					

1. Introduction

Microbial contamination of confined spaces (e.g. public transport and hospitals) and frequently touched surfaces (e.g. elevator buttons, food contact surfaces, doors handle) is considered a global public health issue due to the potential for causing the spread of pathogens (Raeiszadeh and Adeli, 2020). Environmental contamination by pathogens has a significant impact on their transmission and spread, which in extreme situations, may contribute to pandemic scenarios. The severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) pandemic highlighted the importance of environmental disinfection in bustling indoor areas (Agarwal et al., 2021). Measures to prevent the spread of the virus have been adopted, including social distancing, the use of protective face masks, and frequent handwashing. In addition, the use of traditional chemical disinfectants (i.e. ethanol, quaternary ammonium compounds and sodium hypochlorite) dramatically increased (Parveen et al., 2022). Despite being a strong strategy to inactivate microorganisms, continuous and repeated human exposure to chemical disinfectants during the pandemic (mainly through dermal absorption and inhalation) has raised concerns about exposure-related long-term health risks (Dewey et al., 2022). Respiratory illnesses such as asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease were associated with the massive use of traditional disinfectants. Moreover, bleach in combination with other household chemicals can cause the release of toxic gases (chlorine gas and chloroform) that if inhaled can cause severe respiratory disorders (Dewey et al., 2022). Nevertheless, besides the direct impact of chemical disinfectants, the negative impact of disinfection by-products (DBPs) cannot be disregarded (Parveen et al., 2022). DBPs were already associated with cytotoxicity for the human liver and neuronal cell lines, genotoxicity, endocrine disruption, and carcinogenic effects (Parveen et al., 2022). Representative human health problems associated with exposure to DBPs are presented in Table 1 (World Health Organization, 2000). In addition to negative human health complications, the use of disinfectants and their DBPs can have adverse effects on the environment mainly in aquatic ecosystems, where they get into sewage and contaminate water resources (Dewey et al., 2022). Moreover, microorganisms

can adapt and become tolerant to residual levels of disinfectants (Chen et al., 2021). The common bacterial tolerance mechanisms to disinfectants include mutation and horizontal gene transfer, upregulation of efflux pumps, membrane alteration, and biofilm formation (Chen et al., 2021). Acquired bacterial tolerance to benzalkonium chloride by *Salmonella enterica, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Enterobacter* spp., *Escherichia coli* and *Staphylococcus saprophyticus* was already reported (Kampf, 2018). Moreover, chlorine-tolerant bacteria, such as species of *Legionella, Sphingomonas, Mycobacterium, Bacillus,* and *Pseudomonas* have been the most reported in the literature (Luo et al., 2021). Increased bacterial tolerance to phenolic compounds, peroxyacetic acid, isopropanol, and hypochlorous acid was also reported (Nontaleerak et al., 2020). To overcome these problems, new alternative methods for disinfection have been implemented, particularly autonomous ultraviolet (UV)-based treatments (Bhardwaj et al., 2021).

Table	1
-------	---

Disinfectants	Negative effects on health
Trihalomethanes	Cytotoxicity in the liver and kidneys of rodents
Haloacetic acids	Toxicological effects in laboratory animals
	Carcinogenic, reproductive, and developmental effects
	Neurotoxic effects
Haloaldehydes and	Hepatic necrosis and tumours in rats
haloketones	Depressant effect on the central nervous system in human
	Haematological effects in rats
Haloacetonitriles	Mutagenic effects
	Tumour initiators in the skin
Halogenated	Mutagenic effects
hydroxyfuranone	Chromosomal aberrations and induced DNA damage in
derivatives	isolated liver and testicular cells
Chlorite	Oxidative damage to red blood cells
	Mild neurobehavioural effects in rat pups
Bromate	Renal tubular damage in rats
	Tumours of the kidney, peritoneum and thyroid in rats

UV irradiation (100 to 400 nm) is fractionated into four main regions by their wavelength and energy: vacuum UV from 100 to 200 nm, short wave ultraviolet (UVC) from 200 to 280 nm, UV-medium wave (UVB) from 280 to 315 nm, and UV long wave (UVA) from 315 to 400 nm (Khan et al., 2022). Despite UVA irradiation could damage cellular components causing pathogen cell death, UVA emitters are mainly employed for sensing applications (Amano et al., 2020). On the other hand, UVB irradiation is commonly used for phototherapy, including the treatment of skin diseases like vitiligo and psoriasis (Amano et al., 2020). UVA and UVB penetrate tissues and may cause eye cataracts and skin cancer (Amano et al., 2020), whereas UVC is absorbed in the outermost layers of the eye and skin, where cells are continually sloughed and replaced (Garciá De Abajo et al., 2020). UVC light is the most common spectrum used for disinfection purposes being recognized as the germicidal range of UV irradiation, due to its great potential for disinfection (Bhardwaj et al., 2021). It has been applied in sterilization (Raeiszadeh and Adeli, 2020) and was reported to be efficient in reducing transmission of airborne viruses (Hadi et al., 2020). The inactivation of enteric viruses, polioviruses, noroviruses, and non-enveloped viruses (e.g. hepatitis A virus and feline calicivirus) by UVC irradiation was found to be promising, particularly to inactivate aerosols harbouring viruses (Fino and Kniel, 2008). Besides being used for air disinfection (Corrêa et al., 2021), UVC irradiation is intensively used for water (Lui et al., 2014; Wan et al., 2023) and surface disinfection (Elgujja et al., 2020) (Fig. 1). Nevertheless, it can also be applied for food (liquid and beverages) disinfection (Singh et al., 2021).

In comparison to conventional chemical disinfection approaches, UVC is considered economically affordable and an easily deployable strategy to effectively control microbial contamination (can eliminate up to 99.9 % of microbes), without generating harmful chemical residues (Garciá De Abajo et al., 2020). Besides not resorting to frequent manual cleaning and maintenance, the high power density and a higher lifetime of UVC technologies are also advantages in comparison to conventional disinfection procedures. UVC technology could also be controlled by a simple switch on/off with lower warmup times to reach their maximum capacity, enhancing power saving and minimizing the necessity of having human staff controlling it. Moreover, it is possible to select a specific wavelength of UVC technology to target a specific microorganism (Garciá De Abajo et al., 2020). Fig. 2 highlights the main advantages of using UVC technologies in comparison to the use of traditional disinfectants. Therefore, UVC irradiation emerges as one of the most promising solutions to act swiftly on the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic satisfying the requirements of rapid,

widespread, and economically viable deployment (Garciá De Abajo et al., 2020). Besides that, there are still human health risks regarding UVC exposure at 254 nm (Khan et al., 2022). To overcome this problem, far-UVC (222 nm) has appeared more recently showing advantages over standard UVC light at 254 nm, including reduced harm to human skin and eyes, being a safer option for disinfection of occupied spaces (Barnard et al., 2020; Bhardwaj et al., 2021). In addition, far-UVC is still effective against airborne pathogens such as viruses, bacteria, and fungi, helping to reduce the transmission of these pathogens in indoor spaces (Demeersseman et al., 2023; Narita et al., 2020).

The dissemination of pathogens of great importance leads to a boom of new UVC technology systems including robots to inactivate pathogens and consequently mitigate the probability of infection by contact transmission or aerosols (Inagaki et al., 2020). These robots have been introduced into the market at a high pace, achieving percentages of microbial reduction between 84 and 99.99 %, while maintaining the normal operations of social infrastructures (Corrêa et al., 2021). However, this disinfection technology should be carefully planned without compromising public health.

This review is focused on the potential of UVC irradiation for the inactivation of pathogens, mainly in indoor public spaces, while providing an extensive overview of the principles of UVC technology. The mechanism of UVC inactivation of pathogens and the advantages in comparison to conventional chemical disinfection are highlighted. Recently developed UVC-based robots and/or devices that are available in the market for disinfection are critically analyzed.

2. UVC mechanism of inactivation and kinetics

The microbial inactivation process by UVC irradiation (Fig. 3) is mainly based on the occurrence of photochemical reactions caused by UV light on the genetic material (DNA or RNA) of microorganisms (Raeiszadeh and Adeli, 2020). The adenine-thymine bond is broken resulting in the formation of a covalent linkage between two adenines named pyrimidine dimer. These dimers (e.g. cyclobutane pyrimidine dimers – CPDs) disrupt the normal assembly of nucleic acids, which consequently affect the correct transcription and replication of RNA and DNA, respectively (Buonanno et al., 2020). For that reason, the mode of action of UVC light on microorganisms is called "inactivation" and not "killing" (Raeiszadeh and Adeli, 2020). The maximum efficiency of microbial inactivation by UVC is best achieved between 250 and 270 nm since that range of energy is strongly absorbed by the nucleic acids of microorganisms (Bhardwaj et al., 2021).



Fig. 1. Applications of UVC irradiation.



Fig. 2. Advantages of UVC technology when compared with traditional disinfectants.

Moreover, there are some pieces of evidence proposing that photons can also interact with cell envelope components and promote the oxidation of unsaturated fatty acid residues of lipids and phospholipids (Hadi et al., 2020).

2.1. UV inactivation kinetics

The UV inactivation kinetics can be characterized as one-stage or twostage, depending on the level of resistance of pathogens (Kowalski et al., 2000). The one-stage exponential decay equation is commonly applied for susceptible microorganisms such as *P. aeruginosa, Penicillium chrysogenum* and Adenovirus and is obtained by Eq. (1):

$$\frac{N_t}{N_0} = e^{-kT\Delta t} = e^{-kD} \tag{1}$$

where $\frac{N_t}{N_0}$ is the fraction of surviving pathogens (N_0 and N_t are the initial and final microbial populations, respectively). Δt is the time interval of UVC exposure; k is the constant of microbe-dependent inactivation; I is the effective germicidal irradiance received by the microorganism (μ W/cm²); and D is the UVC dose (mJ/cm² - the amount of radiant energy applied for an exposure time to an area)

(Singh et al., 2021). Hence, the activity of UVC irradiation is represented by dose $D (mJ/cm^2) = I (\mu W/cm^2) \times \Delta t$ (s). Therefore, the inactivation efficiency increases exponentially with the dose, which is proportional to both the exposure time and the irradiance light.

The two-stage survival curve takes into account the more resistant microorganisms associated with clumping and dormancy, such as *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Serratia marcescens* (Kowalski et al., 2000). Therefore, this model is mathematically the sum of different microbial populations (susceptible vs resistant) that have rate constants k_1 and k_2 , respectively, as presented in Eq. (2):

$$\frac{N_t}{N_0} = (1 - f)e^{-k_1 \cdot D} + (f)e^{-k_2 \cdot D}$$
(2)

where *f* is the resistant fraction of the total initial population with a rate constant k_2 , and (1-f) is the fraction of the vulnerable population with a rate constant k_1 (Kowalski et al., 2000). The UVC dose (*D*) needed to inactivate 90 % (10-fold decrease) of the microbial population is represented as D_{10} and the decimal reduction time (*D* value) is the UVC exposure time required to reduce 90 % of the microbial population at a fixed incident surface irradiance (Singh et al., 2021).



UVC irradiation damages cell's nucleic acids and protein structure through photodimerization which causes two consecutive bases to bind together. This genetic damage leads to cell inactivation

Fig. 3. Mechanism of action of UVC on microbial inactivation.

Science of the Total Environment 879 (2023) 163007



Fig. 4. The main factors that affect UVC light disinfection treatments.

3. Factors affecting UV inactivation

According to the UV inactivation kinetics, it is easy to understand that the efficiency of disinfection depends on irradiation volume, intensity, exposure time, and UV wavelength, as well as on the absorption coefficient of the material/product that receives the irradiation (Graeffe et al., 2023). The UV efficacy is higher for lower absorption coefficients. Gayán et al. (2011) demonstrated that the UV efficacy for controlling *Escherichia coli* decreased in the range of absorption coefficients from 8.56 to 22.28 cm⁻¹ resulting in logarithmic cycles of inactivation between 6.35 and 0.74, respectively.

Nevertheless, other factors can affect UV treatments, including the equipment specifications and the microbial characteristics (Fig. 4) (Hadi et al., 2020).

3.1. Microbial characteristics

Representative examples of disinfection treatments using UVC irradiation for microbial inactivation are presented in Tables 2 and 3 (only related to far-UVC). From these tables, it is possible to observe that different UVC doses from distinct UVC sources (explained in detail in Section 4) cause different antimicrobial effects, depending on the target microorganisms. Thus, UVC tolerance may be species-dependent. In general, Gram-negative bacteria seem to be more susceptible to UVC radiation than vegetative Gram-positive bacteria, yeast, bacterial spores, moulds, and viruses (Singh et al., 2021).

Over the years, different studies showed the inactivation of foodborne pathogenic bacteria by UVC irradiation - e.g. *E. coli* (Corrêa et al., 2021), *Listeria, Salmonella* (Singh et al., 2021), *Staphylococcus* (Crook et al., 2015), *Bacillus, Aeromonas, Cladosporium* and *Alicyclobacillus* species (Gayán et al., 2013); *Lactobacillus* species (Gayán et al., 2011); and *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (Diesler et al., 2019).

Singh et al. (2021) reported that the use of UVC doses from 1.7 to 7.4 mJ/cm² caused a 90 % of reduction of yeasts, *E. coli, Serratia marcescens, Staphylococccus haemolyticus, Salmonella enterica* Typhimurium, *Streptococcus viridans, Staphylococcus albus* and *Shigella paradysenteriae* in food products. However, higher UVC doses (<22 mJ/cm²) were needed to inactivate *Salmonella* spp. and *Listeria monocytogenes* (Singh et al., 2021). The differences in susceptibility can be explained by the differences in the cell envelope composition and cell size, compromising the ability of UVC irradiation to penetrate inside cells (Singh et al., 2021). DNA repair mechanisms may also be a factor that influences microbial susceptibility to UV irradiation (Raeiszadeh and Adeli, 2020). Diesler et al. (2019) reported a

remarkable inactivation (6 log reduction) of yeasts (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and *Hanseniaspora uvarum*) in grape must, using high UVC doses <0.8 kJ/L.

In recent years, a boom of studies evaluating the impact of UVC irradiation on viruses emerged due to the critical situation of the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic (Buonanno et al., 2020). However, the mechanism of viral inactivation by UVC irradiation remains to be fully described (Hadi et al., 2020). The inactivation of SARS-CoV-2 was recently reported by different authors using far-UVC light (Kucharski et al., 2020) and pulsed-xenon UVC (Drph et al., 2020). In general, coronavirus inactivation requires lower UV energy compared to bacteria (Raeiszadeh and Adeli, 2020). Other viruses, including aerosolized human coronaviruses (Buonanno et al., 2020), airborne PRRSV and influenza (Hadi et al., 2020), bacteriophage MS (Guettari et al., 2021) and rotaviruses (Kucharski et al., 2020), were also inactivated by different UVC light-sources. While a UVC dose of 3.7 mJ/cm² was enough to inactivate 3 log of SARS-CoV-2 in a culture medium (Biasin et al., 2021), higher UVC doses were required (25-140 mJ/ cm²) to inactivate 3 log of rotavirus and adenovirus (Bhardwaj et al., 2021). This may be attributed to the fact that non-enveloped viruses are more resistant to UVC than enveloped ones (SARS-CoV-2 and influenza virus) (Raeiszadeh and Adeli, 2020). The proteins and lipids present in the envelopes of the virus are broken easier than other viral components (Raeiszadeh and Adeli, 2020). Moreover, single-stranded (ss) viruses are more susceptible to UVC irradiation than double-stranded (ds) ones due to the redundancy of genetic information in a second strand, which allows the reparation of the damage (Tseng and Li, 2005). For example, stronger UVC doses (3.80-8.13 mJ/cm²) are required to inactivate 90 % of viral dsDNA and dsRNA than to inactivate ssDNA and ssRNA (1.32-4.47 mJ/ cm²). In general, it is necessary to apply a UVC dose twice as higher as that applied to achieve 90 % viral inactivation to ensure a viral inactivation of 99 % (Tseng and Li, 2007).

3.2. Target product characteristics

The UVC doses needed for microbial inactivation in different environments (i.e. air, liquid, and surfaces) are different (Raeiszadeh and Adeli, 2020). The disinfection of bio-contaminated air and surfaces with UV radiation is more practical and predictable in comparison to a liquid (Gora et al., 2019). A study reported that 90 % of viral inactivation in air disinfection is easily achieved when compared to surface disinfection, due to surface heterogeneity and the potential presence of biofilms (Raeiszadeh and Adeli, 2020). The presence of biofilms (organized microbial communities embedded within a matrix of extracellular polymeric substances produced by the resident microorganisms attached to surfaces) hinders the

Table 2

Studies evaluating the inactivation of pathogens by UVC lamps (mercury-vapour; LEDs, pulsed-xenon and excimer-lamps UVC).

UVC lamps (wavelength)	Type of pathogens	Name	Characteristics of UVC lamp (e.g.: dose)	Time of exposure	Effect	References
Mercury-vapour	Bacteria	A. acidocaldarius	23,720 J/L	N.A.	3.24 log reduction	(Gayán et al., 2013)
UVC (254 nm)		A. hydrophila	1300 J/L		5 log reduction	(Crook et al., 2015)
		B. cereus	23,720 J/L		2.93 log reduction	(Gayán et al., 2013)
		B. coagulans			2.25 log reduction	
		B. licheniformis			3.85 log reduction	
		S. liquefaciens	N.A.	60 min	Total reduction	(Aisha and Maznah, 2018)
		E. coli	1500 J/L	N.A.	5 log reduction	(Crook et al., 2015)
			2.08 mW/cm^2	1 h	99.9 % reduction	(Corrêa et al., 2021)
				5 min	84-91 % reduction	
			6 mJ/cm ²	N.A.	4 log reduction	(Narita et al., 2020)
			N.A.	N.A.	Inactivation rate constant Z-value: 4.6 cm ² /mJ	(Zhang and Lai, 2022)
		P. alcaligenes			Inactivation rate constant Z-value: 7.0 cm ² /mJ	
		S. epidermidis			Inactivation rate constant Z-value: 5.5 cm ² /mJ	
		E. coli ATCC 25922	11.18 J/mL	N.A.	99.99 % reduction	(Gayán et al., 2011)
		E. coli ATCC 35218	N.A.	5 min	4.5 log reduction	(Char et al., 2010)
		E. coli ATCC 11229	1.2 kJ/m^2	3 min	7.2 log reduction	(Schenk et al., 2011)
			3.3 kJ/m ²	8 min	8.5 log reduction	
		E. coli O157:H7	13.22 J/mL	N.A.	99.99 % reduction	(Gayán et al., 2011)
			75 mJ/cm ²		1.95 log reduction	(Yin et al., 2015)
			0.87 mW/cm ²		5 log reduction (DNA damage)	(Kang et al., 2018)
		E. coli STCC 4201	16.60 J/mL		99.99 % reduction	(Gayán et al., 2011)
		E. coli STCC 471	14.36 J/mL			
		E. coli STCC 27325	1015.9			
		L. innocua ATCC 33090	1.2 kJ/m^2	3 min	4.7 log reduction	(Schenk et al., 2011)
		I monocytogenes	3.3 kJ/m^2	8 min	7.2 log reduction	(Singh et al. 2021)
		L. Monocytogenes	21.0 mJ/cm	IN.A.	2.4–2.6 log reduction	
		M mulahamina a	0.8/ mw/cm	NT A	5 log reduction (DNA damage)	(Kang et al., 2018)
		M. puicnerrima Mismostinium en	>1.2 KJ/L	N.A.	4 log reduction	(Diesier et al., 2019)
		Micracunium sp.	N.A.	240 mm		(Alsha and Mazhan, 2018)
		Mycobacterium parajortatium		IN.A.	06 07 % reduction	(Hadi et al., 2020)
		D comunitaria	NI A	E min	So-S7 % leduction	(Aishe and Magnah 2018)
		P. ueruginosu	N.A. $6 \text{ m } \text{I} / \text{cm}^2$	5 IIIII N A	A log reduction	(Marita at al. 2020)
		D. guilliannondii	N A	IN.A.	4 log reduction	(Nalita et al., 2020) (Aishe and Marnah, 2018)
		R dairenensis	N.A.	30 min	Total reduction	(Aisila aliu Mazilali, 2016)
		Salmonella spp	21.6 m I/cm^2	N A	1 0-2 6 log reduction	(Singh et al. 2021)
		S aureus	1450 J/J	14.71.	5 log reduction	(Crook et al. 2015)
			0.87 mW/cm^2		5 log reduction 5 log reduction (DNA damage) 4 log reduction	(Kang et al., 2018) (Narita et al., 2020)
		S. enterica serovar Typhimurium	18.03 J/mL 0.87 mW/cm ²		99.99 % reduction 5 log reduction (DNA damage)	(Gayán et al., 2012b) (Kang et al., 2018)
		S marcescens	1500 J/L		5 log reduction	(Crook et al. 2015)
		S. marcescens	N.A.		Inactivation rate constant Z-value: 3.0 cm^2/mI	(Zhang and Lai, 2022)
		S. senftenberg	2000 J/L		5 log reduction	(Crook et al., 2015)
		Stenotrophomonas sp.	N.A.	5 min	Total reduction	(Aisha and Maznah, 2018)
		Synechocococcus sp.		240 min	Total reduction	
		Y. enterocolitica	1500 J/L	N.A.	5 log reduction	(Crook et al., 2015)
		C. sporogenes	72 mJ/cm^2		Log reduction to undetectable limit	(Narita et al., 2020)
	Spores	B. subtilis spores	N.A.		46–80 % reduction	(Hadi et al., 2020)
	÷ .	*	40.4 mJ/cm ²		2 log reduction	(Wang et al., 2010)
		G. stearothermophilus spores	23.72 J/mL		4.05 log reduction	(Gayán et al., 2013)
		A. niger spores	250 mJ/cm ²		Log reduction to undetectable limit	(Narita et al., 2020)
		T. rubrum spores	36 mJ/cm ²		Log reduction to undetectable limit	
	Fungi	S. cerevisiae KE162	0.7 kJ/m ²	1 min	7.1 log reduction	(Schenk et al., 2011)
	-		3.3 kJ/m ²	2 min	Total reduction	
			N.A.	5 min	2.5 log reduction	(Char et al., 2010)
		S. cerevisiae	<0.8 kJ/L	N.A.	6 log reduction	(Diesler et al., 2019)
			1.0 kJ/L		6 log reduction	
		Candida sp.			6 log reduction	
	Yeast	Candida sp. H. uvarum	<0.8 kJ/L			
	Yeast	Candida sp. H. uvarum P. fermentans	<0.8 kJ/L 1.0 kJ/L		6 log reduction	
	Yeast Viruses	Candida sp. H. uvarum P. fermentans Aerosolized ssRNA viruses	<0.8 kJ/L 1.0 kJ/L 0.71 mJ/cm ²		6 log reduction 90 % reduction	(Hadi et al., 2020)
	Yeast Viruses	Candida sp. H. uvarum P. fermentans Aerosolized ssRNA viruses Aichi virus	<0.8 kJ/L 1.0 kJ/L 0.71 mJ/cm ² 0.24 J/cm ²		6 log reduction 90 % reduction 1.71–4.43 log reduction	(Hadi et al., 2020) (Fino and Kniel, 2008)
	Yeast Viruses	Candida sp. H. uvarum P. fermentans Aerosolized ssRNA viruses Aichi virus Airborne PRRSV	<0.8 kJ/L 1.0 kJ/L 0.71 mJ/cm ² 0.24 J/cm ² 110 V; 1.21 mJ/cm ²		6 log reduction 90 % reduction 1.71–4.43 log reduction 3 log reduction	(Hadi et al., 2020) (Fino and Kniel, 2008) (Hadi et al., 2020)
	Yeast Viruses	Candida sp. H. uvarum P. fermentans Aerosolized ssRNA viruses Aichi virus Airborne PRRSV Bacteriophage MS2	<0.8 kJ/L 1.0 kJ/L 0.71 mJ/cm ² 0.24 J/cm ² 110 V; 1.21 mJ/cm ² 1 mW/cm ²	30 min	6 log reduction 90 % reduction 1.71–4.43 log reduction 3 log reduction 5.8 log reduction	(Hadi et al., 2020) (Fino and Kniel, 2008) (Hadi et al., 2020) (Guettari et al., 2021)
	Yeast Viruses	Candida sp. H. uvarum P. fermentans Aerosolized ssRNA viruses Aichi virus Airborne PRRSV Bacteriophage MS2	<0.8 kJ/L 1.0 kJ/L 0.71 mJ/cm ² 0.24 J/cm ² 110 V; 1.21 mJ/cm ² 1 mW/cm ² 60–240 µW/cm ² ;	30 min 3 s–6 min	6 log reduction 90 % reduction 1.71–4.43 log reduction 3 log reduction 5.8 log reduction 1 log reduction	(Hadi et al., 2020) (Fino and Kniel, 2008) (Hadi et al., 2020) (Guettari et al., 2021) (Tseng and Li, 2007)
	Yeast Viruses	Candida sp. H. uvarum P. fermentans Aerosolized ssRNA viruses Aichi virus Airborne PRRSV Bacteriophage MS2	<0.8 kJ/L 1.0 kJ/L 0.71 mJ/cm ² 0.24 J/cm ² 110 V; 1.21 mJ/cm ² 1 mW/cm ² 60–240 µW/cm ² ; 3.20 mJ/cm ²	30 min 3 s–6 min	6 log reduction 90 % reduction 1.71–4.43 log reduction 3 log reduction 5.8 log reduction 1 log reduction	(Hadi et al., 2020) (Fino and Kniel, 2008) (Hadi et al., 2020) (Guettari et al., 2021) (Tseng and Li, 2007)

Table 2 (continued)

UVC lamps (wavelength)	Type of pathogens	Name	Characteristics of UVC lamp (e.g.: dose)	Time of exposure	Effect	References
		Enveloped Influenza A viruses (H5N1 and H1N1)	1.8 J/cm ²		4 log reduction	(Hadi et al., 2020)
		Feline calicivirus Influenza A (H5N1)	0.24 J/cm ² 15 W; 1.8 J/cm ² 6 mJ/cm ²		2.12–4.46 log reduction 4.5 log reduction log reduction to undetectable limit	(Fino and Kniel, 2008) (Lorè et al., 2011) (Narita et al., 2020)
		MERS CoV	200 mJ/cm ² N.A.	5 min 5-10 min	\geq 3.7 log reduction Total reduction	(Eickmann et al., 2020) (Garciá De Abajo
		MHV Non-enveloped MS2 bacteriophage	6.6 J/m ² 4.32 J/cm ²	N.A N.A.	90 % reduction 3 log reduction	et al., 2020) (Hadi et al., 2020)
		Bacteriophage P22	N.A.		Inactivation rate constant Z-value: 2.9 cm ² /mJ	(Zhang and Lai, 2022)
		Rotaviruses SARS-CoV	25 mJ/cm ² 134 μW/cm ² ; 0.12 J/cm ²		3 log reduction 4 log reduction	(Kucharski et al., 2020) (Kariwa and Takashima, 2006)
		SARS-CoV-1	N.A.	15 min	Total reduction $\leq 1.0 \text{ *TCID}_{50} (\log)$ per ml	(Darnell et al., 2004)
		SARS-CoV-2 1.3 mJ/cm ²	17,000 μJ/cm ² N.A.	20 s 1 log reduction	>6 log reduction (Ma et al., 2021)	(Liang et al., 2021)
		10.4 mJ/cm ²	N.A.	99.99 % reduction	(Sesti-Costa et al., 2022)	
UV-LEDs with UVA (365 nm) pretreatment followed by UVC (265 nm)	Bacteria Virus	E. coli Bacteriophage MS2	N.A	N.A.	N.A.	(Song et al., 2019)
UVC-LEDs (255-280 nm)	Bacteria Virus	P. aeruginosa biofilms SARS-CoV-2	7.9 mJ/cm ² 37.5 mJ/cm ²	1 s 10 s 20 s	4 log reduction 87.4 % inactivation 99.9 % inactivation total inactivation	(Taylor et al., 2010) (Inagaki et al., 2020)
Pulsed-xenon UV (200 to 1100 nm)	Virus	Bacteriophage MS2	798 μJ/cm ² 0.96 J/cm ² per pulse	10 s 1 s	>6 log reduction 4.87 log reduction (glass beads); 0.64 log reduction (powdered black pepper); 0.12 log reduction (garlic); 0.68 log reduction (chopped mint)	(Liang et al., 2021) (Loutreul et al., 2013)
		Hepatitis A virus SARS-CoV-2 Murine NoV-1	0.06-0.09 J/cm ² N.A 0.06-0.09 J/cm ² 3.45 J/cm ² per pulse	2–3 s 5 min 2–3 s 2-6 s	5 log reduction 4.79 log reduction 3.6 log reduction 3 log reduction	(Jean et al., 2011) (Drph et al., 2020) (Jean et al., 2011) (Vimont et al., 2015)
Excimer Lamps - XeBr (285 nm)	Bacteria	E. coli O157:H7	75 mJ/cm ²	N.A.	1.83 log reduction	(Yin et al., 2015)

Legend: A. acidocaldarius - Alicyclobacillus acidocaldarius; A. hydrophila - Aeromonas hydrophila; B. cereus - Bacillus cereus; B. coagulans - Bacillus coagulans; B. licheniformis - Bacillus licheniformis; B. subtilis - Bacillus subtilis; E. coli - Escherichia coli; G. stearothermophilus spores - Geobacillus stearothermophilus spores; H. uvarum - Hanseniaspora uvarum; L. gormanii – Legionella gormanii; L. innocua - Listeria innocua; L. longbeachae – Legionella longbeachae; L. monocytogenes - Listeria monocytogenes; L. pneumophila - Legionella pneumophila; M. pulcherrima - Metschnikowia pulcherrima; MERS-CoV - Middle East respiratory syndrome–related coronavirus; MHV - Murine hepatitis virus; N.A. – not available; P. aeruginosa - Pseudomonas aeruginosa; P. fermentans - Pichia fermentans; P. guilliermondii - Pichia guilliermondii; PRRSV - Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus; R. dairenensis - Rhodotorula dairenensis; SARS-CoV-1 - Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 1; SARS-CoV-2 - Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2; S. aureus - Staphylococcus aureus; S. cerevisiae - Saccharomyces cerevisiae; S. enterica serovar Typhimurium - Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium; S. liquefaciens - Serratia liquefaciens; S. senftenberg - Salmonella senftenberg; sp – species; *TCID₅₀ (Median Tissue Culture Infectious Dose) assay is one method used to verify the viral titer of a testing virus. Host tissue cells are cultured on a well plate titer, and then varying dilutions of the testing viral fluid are added to the wells. After in-cubation, the percentage of infected wells is observed for each dilution, and the results are used to calculate the TCID₅₀ value; T. rubrum - Trichophyton rubrum; Y. enterocolitica - Yersinia enterocolitica.

disinfection treatment (Simões et al., 2008). Moreover, for surface disinfection purposes, UVC irradiation is more efficient when applied to a thin and smooth surface without shadow areas (Raeiszadeh and Adeli, 2020). For example, the UV disinfection of N95 masks (a porous and multilayer structure) is more than a smooth surface material, due to its irregular and complex structure (Tseng and Li, 2007).

Regarding the use of UVC for liquid disinfection, the dose delivery of UVC light depends on the optical (transparency and absorptivity) and physical properties (viscosity and density) of the medium (Singh et al., 2021). As a result, the antimicrobial activity of UVC light varies with the amount of soluble and suspended solids. The presence of suspended solids induces absorption, and promotes reflection and scattering, decreasing the UVC effectiveness (Delorme et al., 2020). In addition, the presence of soluble solids causes an increase in the viscosity of the medium and consequently attenuates antimicrobial UVC effects (Amano et al., 2020; Singh et al., 2021). This helps to explain the lower UVC

inactivation of *E. coli* in orange juice (with the presence of coloured and pulp particles) when compared to peptone water (Char et al., 2010). These authors reported a 4.5 log cycle reduction of *E. coli* in apple juice and peptone water when using 18.7 kJ/m² of UVC dose for 5 min, but only observed a 0.5 log cycle reduction when disinfecting the orange juice (Char et al., 2010).

For the disinfection of viruses in aerosols, it is important to ensure sufficient UVC light to disinfect huge volumes of air under distinct environmental conditions, including temperature and relative humidity (Bhardwaj et al., 2021).

3.3. Treatment parameters

The microbial susceptibility to UVC irradiation can be potentiated by heat, but it does not depend on the pH and water activity (a_w) (Gayán et al., 2012b). Values of a_w between 0.94 and 0.99 did not affect the

Table 3

Studies evaluating the inactivation of pathogens by far-UVC lamps at 222 nm.

Type of	Name	Characteristics of 222 nm far-UVC	Time of	Effect	References
pathogens		lamp (e.g. dose)	exposure		
Bacteria	S. aureus	6 mJ/cm ²	N.A.	4 log reduction	(Narita et al., 2020)
		23 mJ/cm ²	8 h	98.4 % reduction	(Eadie et al., 2022)
		0.29 mW/cm ²	N.A.	Lipid peroxidation	(Kang et al., 2018)
	L. monocytogenes	20 W; 0.29 mW/cm ²		Decrease of respiratory chain	
	S. enterica serovar Typhimurium			dehydrogenase activity	
	E. coli O157:H7			Cell membrane damage	
				DNA damage	
				5 log reduction	
		75 mJ/cm ²		2.81 log reduction	(Yin et al., 2015)
	P. aeruginosa	24 mJ/cm ²		4 log reduction	(Narita et al., 2020)
	C. sporogenes	36 mJ/cm ²		Log reduction to undetectable limit	
	E. coli	N.A.		Inactivation rate constant Z-value:	(Zhang and Lai, 2022)
				4.9 cm ² /mJ	
	P. alcaligenes			Inactivation rate constant Z-value:	
				7.5 cm ² /mJ	
	S. marcescens			Inactivation rate constant Z-value:	
				3.3 cm ² /mJ	
	S. epidermidis			Inactivation rate constant Z-value:	
				$6.3 \text{ cm}^2/\text{mJ}$	
Spores	B. subtilis spores	21.6 mJ/cm ²		2 log reduction	(Wang et al., 2010)
	A. niger spores	500 mJ/cm ²		Log reduction to undetectable limit	(Narita et al., 2020)
	T. rubrum spores	72 mJ/cm ²			
	B. cereus, C. sporogenes and	96 mJ/cm ²	N.A.		
	C. difficile endospores	2			
Fungi	C. albicans	72 mJ/cm ²			
Virus	Aerosolized human coronaviruses	1.7 and 1.2 mJ/cm ²		99.9 % reduction	(Buonanno et al., 2020)
	(alpha HCoV-229E and beta	3 mJ/cm ²	8 min	90 % viral reduction	
	HCoV-OC43)	2	25 min	99.9 % viral reduction (aerosols)	
	Influenza A	1.28 mJ/cm ²	N.A.	90 % reduction	
	(H1N1)	2 mJ/cm^2 ; $120 \mu \text{W/cm}^2$		1.3 log reduction	(Welch et al., 2018)
		6 mJ/cm ²		Log reduction to undetectable limit	(Narita et al., 2020)
	SARS-CoV-2	0.1 mW/cm ²	10 s	88.5 % reduction	(Kitagawa et al., 2021a)
		3 mJ/cm ²	30 s	99.7 % reduction	a
		280 µJ/cm ²	40 s	<2 log reduction	(Liang et al., 2021)
		Inactivation rate constants: 1.52 -1.42 cm ² /mJ	N.A.	N.A.	(Ma et al., 2021)
		Inactivation rate constant: 0.64 cm ² /mJ; dose		99.99 % reduction	(Robinson et al., 2022)
		8 mJ/cm ⁻			
	D 1	2417.7 mJ/cm ²		99.99 % reduction	(Sesti-Costa et al., 2022)
	Bacteriophage P22	N.A.		Inactivation rate constant Z-value: 3 cm ² /mJ	(Zhang and Lai, 2022)

Legend: A. niger - Aspergillus niger, B. cereus – Bacillus cereus; B. subtilis - Bacillus subtilis; C. albicans – Candida albicans; C. difficile – Clostridium difficile; C. sporogenes - Clostridium sporogenes; E. coli - Escherichia coli; L. monocytogenes - Listeria monocytogenes; N.A. – not available; P. aeruginosa - Pseudomonas aeruginosa; P. alcaligenes - Pseudomonas alcaligenes; S. aureus - Staphylococcus aureus; S. enterica serovar Typhimurium - Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium; S. epidermidis - Staphylococcus epidermidis; S. marcescens - Serratia marcescens; SARS-CoV-1 - Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 1; SARS-CoV-2 - Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2; T. rubrum - Trichophyton rubrum.

susceptibility of S. enterica Typhimurium in juices to UVC (Gayán et al., 2012b). However, combined UVC and heat treatment, at temperatures between 50 and 60 °C, was synergistic for inactivation of S. enterica Typhimurium (Gayán et al., 2012b). Another study reported a synergistic effect, causing 5 log cycles of inactivation of E. coli in liquid food when using UV irradiation (23.72 J/mL) and a temperature of 55 °C for 3.6 min (Gayán et al., 2012a). The number of envelope-injured cells was higher after combined UVC irradiation and heat exposure than after heating treatment alone. The impact of this combined approach was reported to be higher in the outer membrane than in the inner membrane (Gayán et al., 2012a). Thereby, it seems that the combination of UV light with heat promotes the destabilization of cell envelopes or hinders the ability of cells to repair these structures (Gayán et al., 2012a). Another study reported an abrupt increase of 2 log cycles inactivation when applying UVC (27.10 J/ mL) at temperatures between 25 and 60 °C, towards Bacillus coagulans spores in liquid media (Gayán et al., 2013). Besides that, the influence of temperature depends also on the light source (described in Section 4 UVC light sources) (Demeersseman et al., 2023).

In general, higher relative humidity induces a decrease in the UVCbased inactivation of microorganisms (Demeersseman et al., 2023). The reduction in susceptibility occurs due to the formation of a water layer around the microorganisms, protecting them against UVC-induced DNA or RNA disruption (Demeersseman et al., 2023). The impact of relative humidity on UVC disinfection is more pronounced for bacteria than for viruses (Raeiszadeh and Adeli, 2020). This is reinforced by the results of Tseng and Li (2007) who reported that the susceptibility to UVC of the influenza virus, *S. marcescens*, mycobacteria, and *E. coli* increased with a decrease in the relative humidity. Moreover, the UV dose to achieve the same viral reduction on surfaces under 85 % relative humidity was higher than that needed for 55 % of relative humidity (Tseng and Li, 2007).

3.4. Equipment parameters and design

Different UVC equipment can be selected for disinfection, depending on the process conditions. In general, UVC reactors, UVC lamp units, and UVC robots are the most common equipment. It is further essential to select a suitable light source (explained in Section 4) and positioning to ensure desired disinfection levels (Mehta et al., 2023).

The design of the equipment is also extremely important to avoid nonirradiated areas and to ensure homogenous disinfection. For example, in UVC-based liquid disinfection, different designs of UV reactors cause distinct inactivation efficacy (Gayán et al., 2011). The bacterial inactivation increases with turbulence since the turbulent flow guarantees a homogeneous distribution of UVC irradiation (Koutchma et al., 2007). Numerical simulations could be applied to predict UV disinfection performance if reliable dose-response information is available for the target microorganism (Sun et al., 2022). Thereby, UV systems could be designed to output the required fluence at the designed flow rates and UV transmittance to ensure a powerful inactivation of pathogens (Sun et al., 2022). More recently, novel algorithms were described for UVC robots development aiming to potentiate disinfection effectiveness (Mehta et al., 2023).

4. Applications of UVC light sources

A wide range of light sources have been used under UVC wavelengths: mercury-vapour UVC lamps; UVC light-emitting diodes (UVC-LEDs); continuous and pulsed xenon arc lamps; excimer lamps: krypton chloride excimer (KrCl) lamps and krypton-bromide excimer (KrBr) lamps (Guettari et al., 2021); and microplasma lamps (Raeiszadeh and Taghipour, 2019). Data about pathogens reduction using UVC light sources are presented in Tables 2 and 3. The main advantages and limitations of the different UVC light sources are listed in Table 4.

4.1. Mercury-vapour UVC lamps

Mercury-vapour lamps can be divided into three classes, namely low-pressure (254 nm), medium-pressure (220-580 nm), and highpressure lamps (220-1000 nm) (Demeersseman et al., 2023). The conventional UVC light at 254 nm with 30–40 % power efficiencies generated by low-pressure mercury-vapour lamps remains the most common disinfection unit source due to the electrical efficiency and low cost (Hadi et al., 2020). These lamps have a lifetime of 8000 h, and a 30 W power output with peak emission at 254 nm (Guettari et al., 2021). However, precautions should be taken when using such lamps, due to the presence of mercury, their low mechanical stability, and the potential generation of ozone. Mercury-vapour lamps need warm-up time contrarily to UVC-LEDs and pulsed xenon UVC lamps (Demeersseman et al., 2023). Moreover, the output of mercury-vapour lamps varies greatly with temperature, whereas this effect is much smaller for the other light sources (Demeersseman et al., 2023).

It is considered that 254 nm is the optimal wavelength for maximum germicidal action, inactivating in some cases bacterial spores, which are much more resistant to inactivation than their vegetative cells (Blatchley et al., 2005). As an example, a low-pressure mercury lamp at 254 nm, with doses in the range of 15 to 20 mJ/cm² causes 90 % (1 log) of *Bacillus cereus* spores inactivation, and for doses up to 30 mJ/cm², inactivation of 4 log could be achieved for aqueous suspensions of spores (Blatchley et al.,

2005). Another study showed higher Bacillus subtilis spores inactivation in dairy products through a pretreatment for 60 s using a UVC lamp (254 nm; 2.37 J/mL) followed by thermal treatment at 110 °C for 30 s (Delorme et al., 2020). Conventional UVC lights were also able to eradicate Stenotrophomonas sp. and P. aeruginosa after a relatively long period (5 min) of exposure in cave wall paintings (liquid) (Aisha and Maznah, 2018). Other authors demonstrated a 99.9 % inactivation of E. coli from air disinfection using a UVC-light source (254 nm) for 60 min (Corrêa et al., 2021). Higher exposure periods (3 h) can be sufficient to eliminate MS2 virus droplets, which were reduced by 3 log after exposure to a 4.32 J/cm² UVC dose at a wavelength of 254 nm (Vo et al., 2009). However, other airborne viruses, including the influenza virus and nonenveloped viruses, were also inactivated with lower UVC (254 nm) doses (1.21 mJ/cm²) (Hadi et al., 2020). Garciá De Abajo et al. (2020) reported a total reduction of murine coronavirus mouse hepatitis virus A-59 (MHV-A59) and Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV) after 10 min exposure to UVC at 254 nm.

4.2. UVC light-emitting diodes (UVC-LEDs)

To overcome the potential environmental and health warns of mercury, UVC-LEDs (emitting between 255 and 280 nm) have emerged as an alternative solution with efficiencies more than nine times higher than the conventional mercury-vapour UVC lamps (254 nm) when used for water disinfection (Guettari et al., 2021).

Typically, the semiconductor material for UVC-LEDs is aluminum gallium nitride, revealing advantages when compared to UVC lamps such as energy-saving, longer lifetime (25,000–100,000 h), and compact size, but are more expensive than UVC lamps (Nyangaresi et al., 2018).

A recent study showed 87.4 %, 99.9 % and a total inactivation of SARS-CoV-2 after 1, 10 and 20 s of treatment by UVC-LED (280 nm; 37.5 mJ/ cm²), respectively (Inagaki et al., 2020). Moreover, UVC-LEDs have opened a new set of user safety experiences around the healthcare occupational settings reducing by 70 % the bacterial load in medical devices (Ragusa et al., 2020). UVC LED ranging between 16 J/s and 18 J/s were found to reduce *P. aeruginosa, S. aureus* and *E. coli* colonies on the stethoscope membrane after >240 h and 2900 cycles of use (Ploydaeng et al., 2021). A UVC dose of 78 J/m² was also able to promote 99.99 % inactivation of *P. aeruginosa* biofilms on Teflon and silicone catheter tubes (Taylor et al., 2010). The combination of different UVC-LEDs resulted in a significant increase in pathogens inactivation (Song et al., 2019).

Table 4

Advantages and	disadvantages of	f different UVC light so	ources.
0	0	0	

0	0	
UVC light sources	Advantages	Disadvantages
Low-pressure mercury lamps (254 nm)	 High efficiency (30-40 %) Low cost Technical maturity 	 Mercury environmental and health concerns Significant warm-up time Their high heat may require additional cooling systems, which
Medium-pressure (220-580 nm) and high-mercury lamps (220-1000 nm)	- Can emit a continuous spectral base overlapped	increases equipment cost and security risk - Possible ozone production
UVC light-emitting diodes (255–280 nm)	- Disinfection efficacy	- Missing detectability
	 Application flexibility Safety (did not use mercury) 	 Unnoticed loss of up to 70 % of intensity during usage Low durability of the source
	 Greater efficacy than conventional mercury lamps Lower energy consumption and a longer lifetime No warm-up time Continuous and pulsed 	- Low investment protection
Pulsed-xenon lamps (200-c1000 nm with a peak at 254 nm)	 Power can reach >50 kW, leading to very high intensity in a single pulse Rapid Effective treatment No chemical residue No peculiar odour No warm-up time 	 High energy consumption Critical heat dissipation
Excimer lamps (far-UVC lamps at 222 nm)	 Effective inactivation of microorganisms and viruses Reduced harm to exposed mammalian skin and eyes Safe use in occupied spaces Longer lifespan of UV lamps Continuous and pulsed 	High energy consumptionOzone production

When comparing UVC-LEDs with other UVC sources, the first one is reported to be more effective in the inactivation of fungal spores in water environments (Wan et al., 2020). Wan et al. (2023) reported UVC-LEDs as capable to eliminate fungi from drinking water and swimming pools, including species of *Aspergillus*, *Penicillium*, and *Trychophyton*. Hence, in addition to the UVC irradiation disinfection properties, UVC-LEDs are small-sized, do not produce any identified harmful by-products, have broad-spectrum inactivation, and have low maintenance costs (Guettari et al., 2021).

4.3. Pulsed UVC light

Pulsed UVC light has a broad spectrum (200-1000 nm with a peak at 254 nm) emitted from a xenon flash lamp that is delivered in a series of pulses (100 ns to 2 ms). Pulsed UVC light represents a fast and residue-free technology with higher light energy and intensity and deeper penetration than the alternative UVC light sources (Demeersseman et al., 2023). Although having gained approval from Food and Drug Administration (FDA) ($<12 \text{ J/cm}^2$), this light source has not been used on a large scale by the food industry (Rowan, 2019). This occurs because there is a lack of basic information about pulsed UV light treatments, such as details of lamp manufacture and geometry, and effects on food products. The target products, the degree and nature of microbial contamination, and the process parameters influence the efficiency of this light source (Rowan, 2019). However, emerging applications include ready-to-eat, freshly-cut, fruit and vegetables along with decontamination of meat and fish products and associated packages (Rowan, 2019). This technology is only efficient for in-package disinfection if packaging materials allow the penetration of UV-pulsed light (glass and plastic) (Heinrich et al., 2015).

Although the main application of pulsed UV is related to food packaging and container disinfection, this technology could be also applied for water disinfection. Pulsed UV-LED irradiation at 280 nm is an attractive alternative for *E. coli* inactivation in water in comparison to continuous UV irradiation, particularly in terms of energy efficiency (Zou et al., 2019).



Moreover, this technology is also used for the disinfection of healthcare devices/equipment. Significant inactivation of SARS-CoV-2 from N95 respirators and hard surfaces (>4.79 log and >4.12 log, respectively) was reported from the use of pulsed-xenon UV irradiation for 5 min (Drph et al., 2020).

4.4. Excimer lamps: far-UVC light

Excimer lamps, namely xenon-bromide - XeBr (285 nm), kryptonbromide - KrBr (207 nm) and krypton-chlorine - KrCl (222 nm), could inactivate a wide range of pathogens. For example, xenon lamps inactivated *E. coli*, hepatitis A virus, Murine NoV-1 and SARS-CoV-2 in suspension and on food-contact surfaces (Jean et al., 2011). Moreover, under lower wavelengths, KrBr lamps can inactivate methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA) (Hadi et al., 2020).

The most commonly used excimer lamps for UVC disinfection are these of KrCl that emit light at 222 nm, being recognized as far-UVC technology. Far-UVC is a relatively new and effective disinfection method, without high risks to human health as at this wavelength (222 nm) UV light is not able to penetrate the outer layer of skin or the tear layer in the eye, whereas standard UVC light (254 nm) can penetrate and cause damage (Barnard et al., 2020; Bhardwaj et al., 2021). Therefore, contrary from standard UVC light, far-UVC could be used simultaneously with the presence of humans. However, there is a regulatory limit for UVC exposure at 222 nm without being harmful to human health, which is 23 mJ/cm^2 per 8 h of exposure (International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection, 2004). Even though, controversies exist regarding its safety (Demeersseman et al., 2023). Ozone production can be considered a side effect of far-UVC lamp operation (Martínez de Alba et al., 2021). Besides that, far-UVC technology has a longer lifespan than the UVC lamps used at 254 nm, which reduces the need for frequent replacement and maintenance (Buonanno et al., 2020). A SWOT analysis comparing strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats between far-UVC and UVC lamps is presented in Fig. 5.

10

4.4.1. Far-UVC light: an alternative to standard UVC light sources

Far-UVC is considered to be more efficient for disinfection than standard UVC light sources, including mercury lamps at 254 nm; UVC-LEDs at 280 nm and pulsed-xenon lamps (Ma et al., 2021; Narita et al., 2020; Kang et al., 2018; Zhang and Lai, 2022). Far-UVC lamps irradiating at 222 nm can inactivate Gram-positive bacteria such as S. aureus and L. monocytogenes and Gram-negative bacteria including S. enterica Typhimurium and E. coli O157:H7 in a higher extent than standard UVC lamps (254 nm) in phosphate-buffered saline (Kang et al., 2018). This occurs because the bactericidal mechanisms of far-UVC light are different from standard UVC lamps as different cellular materials absorb different UVC emitting wavelengths (Kang et al., 2018). In this case, the mechanism of inactivation of far-UVC irradiation is attributed to cell membrane damage (inactivation of enzymes and lipid peroxidation) in addition to DNA damage, whereas UVC irradiation at 254 nm only affect bacterial DNA (Kang et al., 2018). Far-UVC light can affect the cellular enzymes or lipids in the membrane because amino acids or phospholipids especially absorb UVC radiation of 222 nm (Kang et al., 2018). Moreover, at 222 nm, the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) occurs, which affect DNA indirectly by inducing oxidative DNA damage (Kang et al., 2018). Diverse studies reinforce the higher efficacy of far-UVC light in relation to alternative UVC sources. Using a UVC dose of 75 mJ/cm², E. coli O157:H7 in apple juice was greatly inactivated by far-UVC light at 222 nm, achieving a bacterial log reduction of 2.81 (Yin et al., 2015). With the same UVC dose (75 mJ/cm²), a standard UVC lamp at 254 nm and a XeBr lamp at 285 nm, promoted lower log reduction values (1.95 and 1.83, respectively) (Tables 2 and 3) (Yin et al., 2015). The same occurred for Bacillus subtilis spores, with higher inactivation levels at 222 nm (KrCl) (2 log reduction) than at 254 nm, or 172 nm (XeBr), using fluence doses of 21.6, 40.4 and 8710 mJ/cm², respectively (Wang et al., 2010). Therefore, far-UVC at 222 nm can be considered a relevant alternative to conventional UVC wavelengths for disinfection, affecting multiple bacterial targets (Kang et al., 2018).

Far-UVC light is currently considered the most effective UVC light source for inactivating airborne viruses (including coronaviruses), causing reductions of 99.9 % (with doses of 1.2-1.7 mJ/cm²) of aerosolized human coronaviruses such as α -HCoV-229E and β -HCoV-OC43 (Buonanno et al., 2020). Moreover, a far-UVC dose of 1.28 mJ/cm² caused 90 % inactivation of influenza virus (Buonanno et al., 2020). Other authors also corroborate this outmost effects of far-UVC (222 nm) in the inactivation of viruses (SARS-CoV-2), with inactivation rates in the range of 1.52-1.42 cm²/mJ, when compared with UVC-LED at 270 nm (inactivation rates from 0.53 to 0.93 cm²/mJ) and lowpressure mercury-vapour lamp at 254 nm (inactivation rate of 0.79 cm²/mJ) (Ma et al., 2021). Eadie et al. (2022) reported that far-UVC was more effective against airborne viruses, including SARS-CoV-2, than bacteria. The enhanced inactivation of viruses by far-UVC was attributed to protein damage (Beck et al., 2018). Kitagawa et al. (2021a) reported the inactivation of 88.5 % and 99.7 % of SARS-CoV-2 in air public spaces by using far-UVC light at 0.1 mW/cm² for 10 and 30 s, respectively. The available studies suggest that airborne virus disinfection with far-UVC light (222 nm) at the current regulatory limit would provide a huge reduction in the ambient level of airborne virus in occupied indoor environments (Buonanno et al., 2020). Besides that, some controversial results about far-UVC airborne disinfection efficiency in relation to other UVC sources still exist (Liang et al., 2021). Liang et al. (2021) tested three different UVC sources against SARS-CoV-2 and found that the UVC LED (275 nm) had the best virucidal activity, with log reduction higher than 6 after 10 s of exposure. The mercury lamp (254 nm) reached similar virucidal activity after 20 s of exposure, but the excimer lamp (222 nm) showed limited log reduction (<2) after 40 s of exposure (Liang et al., 2021). Moreover, UVC at 254 nm showed to be more efficient than UVC at 222 nm in inactivating SARS-CoV-2 present in human saliva (Sesti-Costa et al., 2022). In fact, while a dose of 2417.7 mJ/cm² at 222 nm was necessary for 99.99 % inactivation of the virus, only 10.4 mJ/cm² of UV 254 nm

was required for the same effect (Sesti-Costa et al., 2022). Narita et al. (2020) showed that both 222 nm and 254 nm UVC had comparable efficacy towards vegetative bacterial cells, yeasts and viruses (Tables 2 and 3). This similar efficacy of far-UVC (222 nm) and standard UVC (254 nm) in airborne microorganisms inactivation (*E. coli, Pseudomonas alcaligenes, S. marcescens, Staphylococcus epidermidis* and bacteriophage P22) in duct flows was also reported by Zhang and Lai (2022).

4.5. Microplasma UVC lamps

Microplasma UVC lamps were reported as attractive for planar UV water purifiers, due to their ability to monochromatically and spatially homogeneous irradiate at different wavelengths and with distinct pulsation frequencies (Raeiszadeh and Taghipour, 2019). A microplasma UVC dose of 9.9 mJ/cm² caused a significant (4 log reduction) inactivation of *E. coli* (Raeiszadeh and Taghipour, 2019). This new mercury-free technology consists of thin microplasma UV lamps that are triggered by at least two interlaced arrays of microcavities, which improves the power output and efficiency of the lamp compared with other UVC light sources (Raeiszadeh and Taghipour, 2019).

5. Complementary UVC disinfection strategies

UVC-based disinfection methods can be implemented in combination with other disinfection strategies to potentiate the antimicrobial action, allowing the use of low UVC doses and/or exposure time (Rutala et al., 2013). The combination of UVC with chemical disinfectants has been widely studied because each treatment has different mechanisms of action and molecular targets, causing complementary antimicrobial effects (Zhang et al., 2020). The combination of hydrogen peroxide vapour or gaseous ozone and UVC irradiation increased C. difficile inactivation, in comparison to the action of each treatment alone (Anderson et al., 2018). The pretreatment with UVC light for 5 min followed by hydrogen peroxide disinfection increased significantly (>30 %) the inactivation of MRSA, vancomycin-resistant enterococci (VRE), and C. difficile on surfaces of hospital rooms (Wong et al., 2016). Recently, it was found that the combination of UVC light with gallic acid (a natural molecule with modest antimicrobial activity) promoted a higher antimicrobial disinfection response against E. coli in food products when compared to the individual antimicrobial activity of gallic acid (Singh et al., 2021).

In addition to chemical disinfectants, UVC treatments can also be combined with complementary approaches, such as reflective walls to increase UVC disinfection efficiency (Rutala et al., 2013). The reflectivity of the material of a disinfection reactor influences the UVC light dose received across all sides of a contaminated object, increasing the effectivity on more remote and shadowing zones that in the absence of reflective walls would receive lower UV doses (Stojalowski and Fairfoull, 2021). Polytetrafluoroethylene is a great reflective material, but other strategies applied reflective wall coatings or paints (Stojalowski and Fairfoull, 2021). According to Rutala et al. (2013), combining UVC lamps with a reflective wall coating (Lumacept) promoted a faster inactivation of S. aureus (5 log CFU/cm² reduction) and C. difficile (3 log CFU/cm² reduction), to <20 and 30 min, respectively, than when only UVC lamps were used. This coating, Lumacept, contains nanoscale inorganic crystal oxides which are transparent to the penetration of UVC and polymer binders as well as functional additives with chemical structures that are minimally absorbent of UVC (Rutala et al., 2013). Moreover, a 20 % increase in UVC effectiveness can be achieved by the employment of reflective paint and humidifiers (Guettari et al., 2021).

6. UVC technological devices: robots

The adoption of automatic UVC technological devices (robots) during the Covid-19 pandemic gave support to fight the spread of pathogens in enclosed areas where contact between people was frequent, particularly in hospitals (Graeffe et al., 2023), work offices (Srivastava et al., 2021), schools, shopping centers, and airports (Robots, 2021). These devices already played a significant role in avoiding manual supervision and maneuvering of the disinfection treatment, helping to mitigate the potential spread of pathogens (Mehta et al., 2023). Moreover, UVC devices are a valuable alternative to ecotoxic disinfectants (do not lead to any residues), making them an environmentally friendly disinfection method.

The average market price of the prevailing UVC robots is approximately \$55,165, ranging between \$10,000 and \$125,000 (Zaman et al., 2022). Overall, such robots are composed of more than one UVC lamp mounted on mobile platforms that offer movement autonomy (Mehta et al., 2023). However, additional accessories can be included, increasing their cost. UVC devices are usually validated by the manufacturer of the disinfection product and by a certified laboratory, using detailed protocols provided by the Ultraviolet Germicidal Irradiation Handbook (Inagaki et al., 2020). Representative commercially available UVC devices (including robots) and recent research contributions for UVC robots development are presented in Table 5.

AVA UV disinfection robots showed to be ideal for office, warehouse, and factory cleaning by disinfecting air and surface with UVC light achieving percentages of microbial reduction of 99.99 % (AVA Robotics Inc., 2021). These robots from AVA Robotics use four UVC lamps with 30 W to perform disinfection treatments autonomously and take advantage of intelligent features to schedule the disinfection treatments (AVA Robotics Inc., 2021). After completing the treatment, the lights turn off and the robot returns to the charging station on its own (AVA Robotics Inc., 2021). Moreover, the administrator receives an email report to confirm completion (AVA Robotics Inc., 2021). Since it has 99 % effectiveness against SARS-CoV-2, it is considered an effective disinfection approach (AVA Robotics Inc., 2021).

For air disinfection, upper-room ultraviolet germicidal irradiation systems are commonly installed on top of indoor spaces, allowing the safe occupancy of the spaces below (Park et al., 2022). RaLUX® UVC Stand (Radium, 2022) and Soluva® Air F, W, M10, D, V models were certified to inactivate 99.91 % of viruses, bacteria and other pathogens. These UVC devices can be applied to the disinfection of public transport or in large rooms and buildings with forced-air heating and cooling systems (Heraeus, 2023). RaLUX conceals UVC bulbs within, ensuring no light exposure outside of the device, to protect humans (Radium, 2022). The UVD robot is also a recent device with the ability to disinfect airports and transport stations, keeping travellers safe by providing a microbiologically safe environment (Robots, 2021). It inactivates up to 99.99 % of pathogens, including MRSA and *C. difficile* (Robots, 2021).

A new UVC robot named UVC-PURGE was recently developed and shown to be able to cause bacterial inactivation up to 95.33 % (Zaman et al., 2022). Although it was not tested against SARS-CoV-2, the authors found that UVC-PURGE successfully inactivated *S. aureus* using a UVC dose of 6.06 mJ·s/cm², being this dose much higher than the conventional inactivation dose for SARS-CoV-2 (3.75 mJ·s/cm²) (Zaman et al., 2022). Therefore, it is expected that UVC-PURGE could effectively disinfect indoor environments contaminated with SARS-CoV-2. UVBot robot was developed to mitigate the spread of noroviruses in occupational spaces. With a UV dose of 45 mJ/cm², this robot inactivated 99.9 % of the tulane virus in 30 s, which is sufficient to inactivate other airborne viruses (including SARS-CoV-2) and bacteria (Wang et al., 2022).

The high efficiency of UVC devices to disinfect air may be explained by their ability to increase the equivalent ventilation rate, which is a solution to create microbiologically safe indoor environments (Reed, 2010). When UVC devices inactivate 63 % of infectious microorganisms in a room, one Equivalent Air Change (Eq ACH) has occurred (Reed, 2010). It is important to compare various air disinfection strategies in terms of Eq ACH per hour to evaluate their efficacy (Reed, 2010). The greater the infectivity, the greater the Eq ACH needed for protection.

Among different purposes for UVC robots, most of them are used to fight microbial spread in hospital environments and even in ambulances (Table 5). Examples of these robots are i-Robot UVC (Guettari et al., 2021), Tru-D[™] (Mahida et al., 2013), Violet from Akara Robotics

(McGinn et al., 2021), THOR UVC[™] (Finsen technologies LTD, 2021), SteriPro (Graeffe et al., 2023) as well as many others presented in Table 5. Tru-D[™] claims to reduce on average 99.99 % of nosocomial pathogens including MRSA, VRE, and C. difficile in healthcare environments, after 45 min of exposure (Nerandzic et al., 2010). This system is considered a more efficient alternative than vapourized hydrogen peroxide or dry-mist hydrogen peroxide, both commonly used for terminal disinfection of patient rooms (Nerandzic et al., 2010). Tru-D[™] can promote a log reduction higher than 4 after 30-40 min and 60-90 min to decontaminate single rooms at 12 mJ/cm² (for vegetative bacteria) and 22 mJ/cm² (for spores), respectively (Mahida et al., 2013; Nerandzic et al., 2010). This device has eight sensors, which measure the reflected UVC intensity of surfaces and walls and automatically stop if sensors detect the threshold reflected UVC dose, completing its disinfection cycle (Mahida et al., 2013; Nerandzic et al., 2010). The other UVC robots share some characteristics such as being portable, lightweight, and easy to operate. Similar disinfection efficiencies in the elimination of harmful pathogens were also reported for these UVC robots. In addition, monetary savings of >5000 € a day for hospitals resulted from avoiding manual work for surface disinfection (Elaine, 2020).

It is important to highlight that some UVC robots provide complementary disinfection strategies. For example, the TMiRob (Mobile Robot Guide, 2020) and the DR1001 (Medical Expo, 2023), have dual-mode disinfection using UVC lamps and hydrogen peroxide. Robot Y-C2 developed by VitroSteril uses three different technologies based on the operators` needs: cold plasma, hydrogen peroxide and UVC rays (VitroSteril, 2022).

Xenex Disinfection Services recently developed a pulsed-xenon disinfection system to reduce the load of SARS-CoV-2 on hard surfaces and N95 respirators (Drph et al., 2020). The use of this system resulted in log reductions up to 4.12 and 4.79 of SARS-CoV-2 after 5 min in hard surfaces and N95 respirators, respectively (Drph et al., 2020). The inactivation of 99.9 % SARS-CoV-2, with total doses of 1.8 mJ/cm², 3.0 mJ/cm², and 23 mJ/cm² and exposure times of 5, 15 and 30 s was obtained by the use of UVC-LED at 265, 280, and 300 nm wavelength, respectively (Minamikawa et al., 2021).

MUVi-UVC recently developed by Mobile UV Innovations Pty Ltd. for medical equipment disinfection was able to inactivate 99.999% of *S. aureus*, *P. aeruginosa, Candida auris*, SARS-CoV-2, *E. coli* and *S. enterica* Typhimurium for 5 min (Khan et al., 2022). However, the same robot needs more time (30 min) to inactivate *Aspergillus niger* spores (Khan et al., 2022).

Other applications for UVC robots include the sterilization of liquids and packaging using pulsed UVC light. An example is PureBright, which uses flashlamps filled with inert gases (xenon, krypton) causing 4.8-7.2 log reductions of different viruses with a dose of 1.0 J/cm² (Table 5) (Mandal et al., 2020). The UVC robot system developed by MIT's Computer Science and Artificial Intelligence Laboratory (CSAIL) in collaboration with Ava Robotics and the Greater Boston Food Bank is considered a great strategy for fast room disinfection, due to its power to disinfect a warehouse floor in 30 min with fast disinfection cycles of 5.1 s (Rachel, 2020).

The general part of these devices can disinfect objects at 360° overcoming shadowing issues like the HERO 21 robot, which in a period of 5 to 10 min can disinfect 14 rooms with 8-UVC lamps at 254 nm inactivating *B. subtilis* spores and human coronavirus 229E (ICA Group, 2022). Another robot, UV-360 Room Sanitizer, certified by the US Environmental Protection Agency for safety on air pollutants, reduced 72 % of microorganisms presented in operating theatres, after 5 min of exposure (Bosco et al., 2022). Among these different UVC devices/robot, only three of them use far-UVC light at 222 nm: Care222[™] (Kitagawa et al., 2021b); Cleanse® Portal (Healhté By Lighting Science, 2020) and Germicidal Robot (G-robot) (Mehta et al., 2022).

6.1. Algorithms in technological UVC devices

Complex UVC technology devices require a symbiotic interaction between a wide set of technologies including robotics, electronics, mechanics, and programmation (Guettari et al., 2021). Current research has been Table 5

UVC devices	Characteristics	Company/origin	References
i-Robot UVC	- Eliminating SARS-CoV-2 in hospital areas	- University of Tunis, Tunisia	(Guettari et al., 2021)
Tru-D™	 Composed of 10 UVC lamps with a central column Eradication of all microorganisms from an operating theatre 22,000 μWs/cm² resulted in 3-4 log reductions of MRSA, multi-resistant <i>Acinetobacter</i>, VRE, and <i>Aspergillus</i> 30-40 min to decontaminate single rooms at 12,000 μWs/cm² (for vegetative bacteria) and 60-90 min at the sporicidal setting (22,000 μWs/cm²) 	- Rapid Disinfection Services Ltd., United Kingdom	(Mahida et al., 2013; Nerandzic et al., 2010).
UVC radiation device (Tru-D)	- Does not integrate any navigation function Test rooms:	- Lumalier Corporation, United States	(Rutala et al., 2014)
	- 12,000 μWs/cm ² , 15 min → >99.9 % vegetative bacteria reduction - 36,000 μWs/cm ² , 50 min → 99.8 % <i>C. difficile</i> spores reduction Rooms occupied by patients with MRSA:		
PX-UV disinfection system	 15 min → 1.30 log reduction \$1,25,000 Reduce the load of SARS-CoV-2 on hard surfaces and N95 respirators Hard surfaces: disinfection for 1, 2, and 5 min resulted in 3.53 log, 	- Xenex Disinfection Services, United States	(Drph et al., 2020)
Violet	 >4.54 log, and >4.12 log reductions, respectively N95 respirators: disinfection for 5 min resulted in >4.79 log reduction Disinfection cycle of 15 min Can make hospital cleaning up to 8 times faster than the norm, with disinfection taking as little as 5 min 	- Akara Robotics, Ireland	(Elaine, 2020; McGinn et al., 2021)
Care222™	 Disinfect surfaces fue to channeling germ concentration Disinfect surfaces in a radiology setting Can be deployed alongside humans UVGI successfully inactivated all of measurable microbial load (84-95 %) Dimensions: 35 × 35 × 150 cm >1-log reduction of most germs at distances of 1-2 m from the surface A 222 nm UVC-emitting Kr-Cl excimer lamp module for disinfection of toilet surfaces contaminated with aerobic bacteria Toilet seat: 0.40 log reduction Control panel of the electric toilet seat: 0.45 log reduction Top of the toilet paper holder: 0.80 log reduction Door handle: 0.20 log reduction Floor: 0.05 log reduction 	- Ushio Inc., Japan	(Kitagawa et al., 2021b)
AVA UV	Clean air and surfaces - disinfection against SARS-CoV-2	- AVA Robots Inc., United States	(AVA Robotics Inc., 2021)
MIT CSAIL	 Ideal for office, warehouse, and factory cleaning Disinfect a warehouse floor in 0.5 h 	- MIT's CSAIL + Ava Robotics + Greater Boston Food Bank	(Rachel, 2020)
UVD Robots	 Can disinfect larger areas such as airports, hospitals and other transport stations Destroys 99.99 % of microorganisms after 10 min (254 nm), including SARS-CoV-2 Can disinfect 4600 m²/h in large rooms The lamps require replacement after 12,000 h of use Does not have the ability to work with the presence of people in the room Dimensions: 93 × 66 × 171 (cm) Mobile base, multiple LiDAB sensors, camera, array of UV lamps 	- UVD robots, part of Blue ocean robotics, Denmark	(Robots, 2021)
PureBright	 Dose of 1.0 J/cm² of pulsed UVC light achieved reductions of 4.8-7.2 log of Sindbis, HSV-1, vaccinia, polio-1, EMC, HAV, CPV, BPV and SV40 Sterilization of liquid products: annular pulsed-light processing chamber with a pulsed-light lamp inside a highly reflective material; tube-quartz made; arrangement-spherical, spiral; metallic elec- trodes; flashlamps-filled with inert gases (xenon, krypton) Sterilization of lexible film for aseptic packaging Chamber of profermed containant 	 PurePulse® (Maxwell Technologies), United States and Switzerland 	(Mandal et al., 2020)
XENEX LightStrike	 Stermization of preformed containers Pulsed xenon ultraviolet device (200-325 nm) Inactivate 99.99 % SARS-CoV-2 and MRSA, 95 % <i>C. difficile</i>, and 100 % VRE Disinfection cycle of 5.1 s Cost \$81,000 	- Xenex Disinfection Services, United States	(Stibich and Stachowiak, 2016)
UVC Robots	 Does not integrate any navigation function Combat SARS-CoV-2 and other viruses such as MERS and Ebola Reduce the need for powerful chemicals that present health and safety risks to the operator Complete the ceiling-to-floor sanitization process within 2-3 h If a human comes within eight meters of the system, it will automatic 	- UV Systems UK, part of the Topline Group, United Kingdom	(OMRON Corporation, 2021)

(continued on next page)

Table 5 (continued)

UVC devices	Characteristics	Company/origin	References
iBEN-M10	 With wi-fi enabled, tracks, and records its path to provide complete validation that an area is SARS-CoV-2-free If it fails to sanitize an area due to obstruction, for example, it reports the information so the issue can be resolved 8 UVC lamps 3 m light coverage radius 	- iBen Robot Service, China	(iBEN Robot, 2021)
	 99.99 % inactivation rate 600 µW/cm² light intensity at 1 m position Make up for the shortage of fixed-point disinfection, no contamination or residue Autonomous navigation, flexible obstacle avoidance 		
UVC disinfection chamber	 With 254 nm light, the SmartDosage UV[™] technology ensures the correct dose of germicidal energy every time 100 % reduction in <i>Klebsiella</i> 71.4 % reduction in <i>Acinetobacter</i> Prevent the transmission of <i>Candida</i> 	- SKYTRON, United States	(SKYTRON, 2021)
THOR UVC™	 Tracking software to give you accurate usage data Promote bacteria and viruses reductions of 6 log Used in hospitals, gyms and dentists Fully portable, easy to transport and operate Automatic scanning and cleaning with optimum UVC dose Perfect solution for disinfecting ambulances 	- Finsen technologies, United Kingdom	(Finsen technologies LTD, 2021)
Connor UVC disinfection robot	 Indoor SARS-CoV-2 disinfection Equipped with UVC germicidal lamps (254 nm), automatic disinfectant spray, sensor technology, and battery life of up to 8 h 	- RobotLAB technologies, India	(RobotLAB technologies, 2021)
ChargeMax and UVC Wand Sterilizer	 Inactivate the pathogens including viruses and bacteria on surfaces objects Safe application for hospitals, classrooms, and different work environments 	- Cetrix Technologies Ltd., United States	(CETRIX Thinking Fresh, 2021)
DONTICS UVC Tower	 Commonly used to minimize SARS-CoV-2 risk in dental clinics Disinfect rooms within 5 min Use a delayed timer to avoid any human exposure 	- Dr Ajay Bajaj, India	(Rajeev Chitguppi, 2020)
UVC Scan Plus sanitizing machine	 Able to disinfect objects in 360° and measure the temperature of humans Has camera and scanner to take photos Can be used in airports, malls, supermarkets, apartments etc. 	- Eurotek Environmental Private Limited, India	(Eurotek Environmental Private Limited, 2021)
Air Sanitizing Bar X50	 Occupants can remain in the room while the device is working Autometed device 	- 59S Global Leader UVC Disinfection, China	(59S Global Leader UVC Disinfection, 2021)
Decontamination device	 Automated device Calculate the dose of UVC energy to the treatment area and decontaminate huge areas in a small-time from distance with remote control 	- Uve cleaning systems inc., United states	2021)
UV air sanitisers and germicidal UV lamps UV room disinfection system	 Irradiate air and exposed surfaces but it is only used in unoccupied rooms Rooms as large as 3500 sq. ft. can be treated with one fixture Equipped with modern sensors and can be effective in hospitals and indoor spaces 	 Atlantic ultraviolet corporation, United States Microchem laboratories, United States 	(Atlantic Ultraviolet Corporation, n.d.) (Microchem Laboratory, 2021)
RaLUX® UVC Stand	 The UVC lamp is inside the device. By irradiating the air with UVC light, potentially present viruses can be deactivated by rendering their DNA harmless. Subsequently, the purified air is ejected back into the room 	- Radium, Germany	(Radium, 2022)
UVC air disinfection	 Rheem's third generation products, RM3 00.0 % disinfering efficiency to plane sincergains the COUTD 10 since 	- Rheem's, United States	(Srivastava et al., 2021)
Claranor Pulsed Light System	 99.9 % disinfection enfective to clean air carrying the COVID-19 virus Tecum-Mobile Decontamination Unit with multiple xenon lamps Light pulse duration of 300 ms; pulse fluence of 3 J/cm2; input voltage of 3000 V The lamps were 20 cm cylindrical xenon flash lamps 	- Claranor, France	(Rajkovic et al., 2017)
Illtra Violet Disinfection	 Fluence of 3 J/cm² was effective to reduce <i>L. monocytogenes, E. coli,</i> <i>S. enterica</i> typhimurium and <i>S. aureus</i> for 2.24, 2.29, 2.25 and 2.12 log CFU/g on the surface of dry fermented salami. Beduced the microbial growth of <i>C. auris</i> on the surfaces after 	- Clean Room Solutions, United Kingdom	(Astrid et al. 2021)
Robot® (UVD-R)	 manual cleaning and disinfection in hospital <i>C. auris</i> growth in the lag phase was inhibited by the UVC irradiation but not in the presence of the rim shadows 	cical Robin Solutions, Childe Angaon	(ibiid et di., 2021)
Soluva® Air F	 Disinfection of indoor air Clean viruses (with a tested virus reduction of 99.99 %), bacteria and other pathogens from the room air and almost silently with the help of UVC light With high air flow rate, it provides fast and safe protection 	- Heraeus Group, Germany	(Heraeus, 2023)
Soluva® Air W	- Appropriate for medical practices, waiting rooms, offices,		
Soluva® Air M10	 Possible applications are production areas, cafeterias, cold storage rooms, hotel lobbies or auditoriums in schools Disinfects up to 1100 m³/h of air 		
Soluva® Zone H	 Surface disinfection: disinfection of vehicle interiors, chairs, sensitive electronics, surfaces and equipment used by rescue workers, police, fire departments 		

Table 5 (continued)

UVC devices	Characteristics	Company/origin	References
	- Tests with the University Hospital Tübingen confirmed a cleaning		
Column @ Alin D	effect of 99.999 % (virus) on surfaces		
Soluva® Air D	- Useful for disinfection air in large rooms and in buildings with forced-air heating and cooling systems (hotel public institution		
	offices, museum, airport)		
Soluva® Air V	- Air purifier for buses and other public transportation: 2 devices per		
	$12\mathrm{m}$ of bus are recommended and $1\mathrm{cycle}$ time per bus (10-12 min)		
	- The UVC (254 nm) purification unit simply mounts on the ceiling of		
	the passenger cabin to protect passengers		
	(proven by the Fraunhofer Institute)		
SteriPro	 Hospital-grade device offering a guaranteed 99.9999 % disinfection result 	- UVC solutions, Slovenia	(Graeffe et al., 2023; steripro,
	- It can be operated continuously 24/7 and takes only 15 min to disinfect		2023)
	an operating room (size $63m^3$) with a 6 log reduction. It can perform up		
	to 70 disinfections per day		
	 Automatic room boundary detection (using laser technology) Total 2000 W LWC lamps 		
	- Uses standard 220-240 AC, 16A outlets		
	- Operator-safe by implementing advanced motion detection technology		
	- Remote control with operating tablet		
	- Self-diagnostic features that ensure reliable operation		
THE INC	- Own www connection	Divendering A ZADI Crown Component	(Rhus Paties 2022)
	 Salely and autonomously distinects indoor public space, from nospitals to hotel rooms, airports and commercial centers. 	- Bluebolics, A ZAPI Group Company, Switzerland	(Bluebolics, 2023)
	 Disinfect more quickly or cover larger sites 	omilionalia	
	- Disinfects as programmed, every time		
	- Reduce staff absences or healthcare associated infections		
OhmniClean	- Self-driving UVC disinfection robot that eliminates 99.99 % of pathogens	- OhmniLabs Inc., California, United States	(OhmniLabs, 2023)
	 High-level Disinfection in Significantly Less Time Thoroughly Disinfect Large Spaces in a Single Cycle 		
	- Eliminate Shadowing & Leave Zero Missed Surfaces		
THERAFLEX-UV-Plasma	- Pathogen inactivation treatment of platelet concentrates	- Macopharma, France	(Eickmann et al., 2020)
system	- Inactivation of 3 single-strand RNA viruses in platelet concentrates:	-	
	SARS-CoV-1 (\geq 3.4 log), CCHFV (\geq 2.2 log) and NiV (\geq 4.3 log)		
TTTT distants and set	with UVC doses of 0.2 J/cm ²	Des Com The basels are Car Ital. Object	
UV disinfection robot BKS-UV-200	- Medical grade sterilization High-intensity radiation,	- Boocax Technology Co., Ltd., China	(Medical Expo, 2023)
510 67 200	- High-intensity radiation superimposition, cumulative UV-light intensity		
	of up to 1500 $\mu\text{W/cm}^2$, 10-min sterilization area of 40 m² (S. albus) and		
	3 min coronavirus elimination		
	- Extermination rate of over 99.99 % against coronavirus, influenza virus,		
	5. alous, E. coll and other pathogens		
UV disinfection robot	 Indoor use only 	- SIFSOF, California, United States	(Medical Expo, 2023)
SIFROBOT	- Using time: 80 % after 300 cycles		
	- Autonomy: 6 h		
	- Remote control function		
	- Automatic planning/manual route planning		
Robot Y-C2	- For environmental sterilization both in human presence and in absence.	- VitroSteril. Italy	(VitroSteril, 2022)
	which provides for the autonomous mapping of the environment	via obterni, rang	((1110)(111, 2022)
	- Uses 3 different technologies according to the operator's needs: cold		
	plasma, hydrogen peroxide and UVC rays		
Hospital disinfection	- Able to perform 360-degree full-coverage surface sterilization	- Hangzhou Amy Robot Co., Ltd., China	(Medical Expo, 2023)
IVC	- The circulation system is equipped by a high-power ultraviolet radiation tube set and microorganisms (fungus bacteria and		
010	viruses) in the air can be effectively eliminated up to 99.99 % by		
	the intensive UV rays when flowing through the airway of the		
	circulation system		
LILEVVIN	- UV radiation mode can be activated when no human activities are sensed	Tomo Coro and E Cabat Erango	(Modical Ermo, 2022)
HUSKI UV	 Distinects surfaces, noors and wans using UVC light (254 lim) Fully autonomous or remotely operated mobile robot 	- Tame-Care and E-Codol, France	(Medical Expo, 2023)
	- Fast and complete disinfection (up to 99.99 % removal of viruses		
	and bacteria)		
	- Integrated air filtration and purification system		
	 Optimized security through redundant and independent systems Disinfection encode 450 m² ft 		
	- DISINFECTION SPEEC: 450 m ⁻ /h		
Techi	- Useful for the disinfection of hospitals, hotel lobbies, malls parrow	- Techmetics, California, United States	(Medical Expo, 2023)
	corridors, retail and airport		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Smart	- Micron level atomization, autonomous mobile, intelligent obstacle	- Shenzhen EAI Technology, China	(Medical Expo, 2023)
	avoidance		
	- Flexible use of UV lamp		
	to infection		

(continued on next page)

UVC devices	Characteristics	Company/origin	References
JISIRt	 UVC light eliminates up to 99.99 % of microorganisms in hospitals, clinics, patient rooms, offices, registrations, communication routes shops, shopping malls, warehouses, schools, kindergartens factories, offices, public transport: buses, metro, trains, planes, private apartments, and houses The motion of the robot with UVC lamps eliminates shadow zones and increases the effectiveness of disinfection Additional ozonizer activation allows for disinfection of spaces where the light does not reach 	- ACCREA Engineering, Poland	(Medical Expo, 2023)
DR1001	 Has the function of microbial disinfection + purify air + improve air quality Dry mist hydrogen peroxide + ultraviolet dual-mode disinfection Pathogen removal efficiency can reach 99.99 % Automatic space modeling with laser + vision system Independent disinfection, no manual intervention required Autonomy: 6 h 	- Bioteke Corporation, China	(Medical Expo, 2023)
aska UVD Robot and Yezhik Robot	- Effectiveness 99.99 %; 12 UV lamps 254 nm - UV lamps life cycle: 9000 h	- Aitheon, United States, Ukraine and India	(Aitheon, 2023)
JVC-PURGE	 For indoor environment disinfection Reduction (90.9-95.33 %) of <i>S. epidermidis</i>, <i>S. aureus</i> and <i>S. saprophyticus</i> Irradiation of 9.375 mJ·s/cm² to 6.82 mJ·s/cm² Cost \$800 	 Institute of Science and Technology, Bangladesh + Department of Computer Science and Engineering, Bangladesh 	(Zaman et al., 2022)
\u-01	 Autonomy: 6 h The spores on the surface of environmental substances (smooth surface, rough, porous surface) and all kind of multidrug-resistant bacteria can be killed (99.9999 %) The air will be clean in 150 min Cost \$10,000 	- Wuhan Donglisheng mechanical and electrical technology Co., Ltd., China	(Wuhan Donglisheng ME Technol. Co., 2021)
Ielios	 Kills bacteria and other harmful microorganisms, with a disinfection rate of 99 % Large working space Unmanned operation Cost \$25.000 	- UVC Light, United Kingdom	(UVC Light, 2020)
ENZOE Easy, Pro, Plus	 8 min to disinfect 25 m² Inactivation of microorganisms up to 99.99 % Useful to disinfect hospitals, commercial centers, and airports Cost \$90,000 	Development: ASTI Mobile Robotics and BOOS Technical LightingDistribution: Aura Light, Portugal	(Aura Light, 2023)
IERO21	 Cost \$70,000 Achieves a level of disinfection of 99.99 % with a 360° coverage Autonomy: 3.5 h Disinfect 14 rooms (25 m²) in 5-10 min 8 UVC low-pressure mercury vapour discharge lamps; 130-W, 254 nm 2.67 mJ·cm⁻²·s⁻¹ at 1 m and 0.29 mJ·cm⁻²·s⁻¹ at 3 m distances achieve 99 % inactivation of <i>B. subtilis</i> spores 10-30 s with doses of 2 - 6 mJ·cm⁻²·s⁻¹ achieve 99 % inactivation of human coronavirus 229E Cost \$70.000 	- ICA Group, Germany	(ICA Group, 2022)
loST-UVC Disinfection Robot	 Disinfects 1000 m² area in 1 h 360° disinfection of floor and surfaces from 8 UVC 254 nm lamps Eradicate with 99.9 % confidence level of many pathogens including coronavirus Useful for hospitals and nursing homes, retail malls, education institutions, gyms and fitness centers, hotels, commercial building, retail malls, factory plant floor 	- Mobile Industrial Robots, Denmark	(Mobile Industrial Robots, 202
SAM's technology	 Deactivates up to 99.9999 % (log6) of bacteria, viruses and other pathogens Autonomously drives around objects to eliminate shadows 	- Loop Robots, Netherlands	(Loop Robots, 2022)
6G IoT UVC LED	 For hospital disinfection and sterilization Certified by the Certified Medical Assistant Satisfactory and constant ultraviolet dry spray particles within 10 μm 99 % inactivation of microorganisms (virus, fungus, bacteria, protozoa) in the air - The irradiance of each lamp is 200 μW/cm² 	- Nigeria	(Matthew et al., 2022)
IV-360 Room Sanitizer	 Composed of 4 lamps that emit UVC light (254 nm) for a total energy of 325 W Equipped with sensors that detect movement during operation and then switch off the lamps for security reasons if an obstacle is detected UVC radiation reaches up to 2.4 m from the source Certified by the US Environmental Protection Agency for safety on air pollutants Disinfection of operating theatres: 72 % reduction of microorganisms after 5 min 	- Ultraviolet Device, Inc., United States	(Bosco et al., 2022)
JVBot system	 2D LiDAR: control the robot remotely, check the disinfection map, and add virtual walls to the map SLAM algorithm generates a map of the space being disinfected 20.0% reducting of tables sizes at a UV data of 45 mL(m² is 20 a) 	- Whiteside Area Career Center, United States	(Wang et al., 2022)

Table 5 (continued)

UVC devices	Characteristics	Company/origin	References
	 360° disinfection coverage Autonomy: 2.5 h Only used without the presence of people Cost < \$1000 		
TMiRob	 Cost < \$1000 Application for hospitals, to help reset surgery rooms and intensive care units 	- TMI Robotics Technology, China	(Mobile Robot Guide, 2020)
DECIMATOR	 UV lamp + ultra-dry mist hydrogen peroxide nozzle Kill rate of 99.9 % in 10 min Autonomous navigation system 	- Addverb Technologies, worldwide	(Addverb Technologies, 2023)
Smart Guard UV	 Integrate 2D LiDAR and a 3D depth camera Can operate for up to 4 h after 30 min of charging UV Pulsed Xenon system Autonomy: 8 h after 4 h of charging 99.9 % effective against Coronavirus, Norovirus, Salmonella, E. coli, C. auris, and MRSA 	- Smart Guard, United States	(SmartGuardUV, 2021)
ASSUM (autonomous sanitary sterilization ultraviolet machine)	 Autonomous navigation system Integrate 2D LiDAR and a 3D depth camera Cost: \$157,000 UVC dose between 200 and 500 mJ/cm² inactivates SARS-CoV-2 by ≥99.91 % to ≥99.99 % for 12 min at a minimum distance of 100 cm 4 UVC Phillips lamps of 254 nm in 360° (600 × 900 × 1500 mm coch) 	- MTS Tech, Barcelona	(Lorca-Oró et al., 2022)
Germicidal Robot (G-robot)	each) - Far-UVC (222 nm) - Automation	- Toronto Metropolitan University, United States	(Mehta et al., 2022)
ROBUV-SUR and ROBUV-AIR	 By using a manipulator for UV disinfection, high-touch surfaces and areas that are cluttered and shadowed can be disinfected more effectively LiDAR and SLAM system ROBUV-SUR: Cleaning surfaces, rooms and corridors ROBUV-AIR: Operates alongside people traversing corridors and hallways while cleaning air Intel RealSense cameras with LIDAR laser sensors generating distance field image 20 m L/m² and use the number of ninues by 000000 % in 25 and 10000 million 	- University of Technology, Poland	(Dzierżek et al., 2022)
UV Disinfection Robot	 22 mJ/cm⁻ reduces the number of viruses by 99.9999 % in 25 s Sterilization of surfaces Uses 2 24 V UVC LED lamps; Arduino uno; motor driver; ultrasonic sensor; bluetooth driver; 12 V batteries, PIR sensor 50 s for the inactivation of coronavirus present on the surface Disinfection is done as it programmed without human intervention Able to move around the room and on detecting humans or animals with the help of PIR motion sensor, it turns OFF the UV lights automatically Avoid obstacles by measuring collision distance with the help of ultrasonic sensor 	- Department Of Computer Science and Engineering, Nagpur Institute Of Technology, India	(Golange et al., 2022)
UV LED Robot	 Terminal decontamination of SARS-CoV-2 patient rooms 100 % inactivation of SARS-CoV-2 in airborne infection isolation rooms 92 4 % inactivation of SARS-CoV-2 in isolation rooms 	- Korea University Medical Center, Korea	(Seok et al., 2022)
ARIS-K2 SEIT-UV	 Anti-virus robot that disinfects 1000 m² in 150 min Accredited by universities, research labs and hospitals that it kills 99.99 % of germs Mapping-based navigation Uniform disinfection Robots communicate with doors and elevators and can move across floors Motion detection: 2D LiDAR, 3D Camera Automatic charging Disinfects 25 m² in 10 min 	 Youibot, China - Milvus Robotics, Turkey 	(WAKU Robotics GmbH, 2023) (Milvus Robotics, 2020)
Multifunctional Disinfection Robot	 Autonomy: 3 h Combined disinfection: Philips UV germicidal lamp (15 W, 253.7 nm) → kills 99.99 % of bacteria on surfaces; spray nozzles located at a height of 400 mm → simultaneous combined treatment of rooms with equipment and furniture, including high-quality processing of the lower surfaces of tables, chairs and beds; air filtration mode → safe air disinfection is ensured in the purcease of a purcon 	- Department of Mechanics Al-Farabi Kazakh National University, Republic of Kazakhstan	(Tuleshov et al., 2022)
Cleanse® Portal	 First-ever human-safe far-UVC (222 nm) technology Sanitises clothing and personal belongings: make a slow 360° turn for 20 s 	- Healthe, New York	(Healhté By Lighting Science, 2020)
Disinfection Robot	 Disinfects public transport using UVC rays Can climb small ladders with Tri-star wheels, composed of three 130 mm onmiwheels IR and thermal sensors for the detection of obstacles and people, respectively 	- School of Mechatronics Engineering at Ricardo Palma University, Peru	(Hurtado et al., 2022)
UVC1 multipurpose robot	 8 UVC lights 254 nm, 36 watt Remotely controllable in a range of 2 km Atmega128 microcontroller is utilized to navigate the robot and send the operator's commands to the system 	- Faculty of Mechanical and Energy Engineering, Shahid Beheshti University, Tehran, Iran	(Sedaghat et al., 2022)

(continued on next page)

Table 5 (continued)

UVC devices	Characteristics	Company/origin	References
Ultraviolet-C Healthcare Surface Disinfection Robot	 Inactivation of 80 % of the microbes (SARS and Ebola viruses, and <i>E. coli</i>) in hospital environment Autonomy: 2 h after 5 h plugged Autonomy software with 3 modular subsystems: Augmented Monte Carlo Localization based localization; Rapidly Exploring Random Tree* based path planning; and Spanning Tree Coverage based coverage path planning Sterilization of 53.82–77.55 % out of all surfaces in 11.57–20.56 s/m² 	 School of Electrical Engineering and Informatics Institut Teknologi Bandung 	(Kurniawan and Adiprawita, 2021)
Automated UVC Light Mobile Robot (AUMR)	 ROBOTIS TurtleBot3 model Waffle Pi 2D LiDAR and a magnetic, angular rate, and gravity (MARG) sensor 8 UVC-C lamps (60 watts each) Can be operated automatically as it has a magnetic line sensor and employs a fuzzy inference system algorithm for its movement Sterilization and disinfection of the air (aerosol) in isolation or other medical rooms but also of the floors in rooms or hallways Disinfection method: 10 min: 36 W × 6 lamps 	- School of Electrical Engineering, Telkom University, Indonesia	(Rusdinar et al., 2021)
Artificial Intelligence	 5 RGB-D cameras, 3 laser sensors (2D LiDAR sensors SICK TiM551) and SI AM 	- Artificial Intelligence and Robotics	(Hong et al., 2021)
(AIDBOT)	- 99.9 % sterilization effect: 11 s for S. aureus, 15 s for P. aeruginosa, and 19 s for E. coli et a dictance of 1 m (IVC doese 15 to 28 I/m^2)	 Institute, Rorea Institute of Science and Technology, Seoul 02792, Korea 	
UltraBot	 Fully autonomous and safe for people robot for UVC distribution of warehouses, shopping malls, open office spaces, campuses, hospitals LiDAR and SLAM systems:10 ultrasonic sensors and 4 Intel RealSense RGB-D cameras to collision detection and obstacle avoid- area 	 Skolkovo Institute of Science and Tech- nology Moscow, Russia 	(Mikhailovskiy et al., 2021)
Arborea Intellbird	 Robot 1: filter glass 40 W UVC at 245–256 nm light Robot 2: quartz glass 450 W UVC at 185–254 nm light + ozone generation at 185 nm 	- Arborea Intellbird, Salamanca, Spain	(Martínez de Alba et al., 2021)
MUVI-UVC	 Composed of an enclosed booth with 3 UVC lights at 240 nm each with 4 bulbs Developed for disinfecting mobile medical equipment 99.999 % inactivation of <i>S. aureus</i> and MRSA, <i>P. aeruginosa</i> and resistant <i>P. aeruginosa</i> (PA219), <i>C. auris</i>, SARS-CoV-2, <i>E. coli</i> and <i>S. enterica typhi</i> for 5 min 99.999 % inactivation of spores of <i>A. niger</i> after 30 min 	- Mobile UV Innovations Pty Ltd., Australia	(Khan et al., 2022)

Legend: A. niger – Aspergillus niger; BPV – Bovine papillomavirus; C. auris - Candida auris; C. difficile - Clostridium difficile; CCHFV - Crimean–Congo haemorrhagic fever virus; CPV – Canine Parvovirus; E. coli – Escherichia coli; EMC – Encephalomyocarditis Virus; HAV – Hepatitis A; HSV-1 - herpes simplex virus type 1; L. monocytogenes – Listeria monocytogenes; LiDAR - light detection and ranging; MERS-CoV - Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus; MRSA - methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus; NiV -Nipah virus; P. aeruginosa – Pseudomonas aeruginosa; S. albus - Staphylococcus albus; S. aureus - Staphylococcus aureus; S. enterica Typhimurium - Salmonella enterica Typhimurium; S. epidermidis - Staphylococcus epidermidis; S. saprophyticus - Staphylococcus saprophyticus; SARS-CoV-1 - Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 1; SARS-CoV-2 - Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2; SLAM - Simultaneous localization and mapping; SV40 - Simian virus 40; VRE - Vancomycin-resistant Enterococci.

focused on hardware development to create autonomous algorithms to maximize the performance and efficiency of disinfection (Mehta et al., 2023). It is already possible to program the mobility of robots using Bluetooth devices without the need for ongoing human presence at the disinfection site (Guettari et al., 2021). Some authors suggest building a roadmap for planning the trajectory of automated robots to optimize the dose of UVC irradiation and achieve an optimal, faster, and cheaper disinfection treatment (Guettari et al., 2021; Marques et al., 2021). Marques et al. (2021) implemented a two-stage solver that uses a Linear Program to achieve dwell times and a Travelling Salesman Problem to program the robot movement without collisions. The maximum speed of the robot end-effectors tested was 0.5 m/s. For dosage planning, they considered the visibility and exposure of each surface to UV light by calculating an irradiance matrix using a Graphics Processing Unit (GPU) (Marques et al., 2021). The results of that work showed that the surfaces tested required a minimum disinfection fluence of 280 J/cm² and a constant radiant flux power of 80 W to achieve a 3 log reduction of SARS-CoV-2 (Marques et al., 2021).

Some UVC robots have simultaneous localization and mapping (SLAM) systems and LiDAR sensors, such as UVD Robot, developed by Blue ocean robotics (Robots, 2021), UVBot system (Wang et al., 2022), DECIMATOR (Addverb Technologies, 2023), Smart Guard UV (SmartGuardUV, 2021), AIDBOT (Hong et al., 2021) and UltraBot (Mikhailovskiy et al., 2021). These systems allow a safe service and navigation of the disinfecting robot with distance sensors and cameras, measuring the angles and distances of obstacles (Wang et al., 2022).

Another robot (i-Robot) uses different systems of ultrasound and infrared sensors to measure distances, avoid obstacles, and detect motion. For instance, if people are detected around, it turns off the UVC lamps (Guettari et al., 2021).

UVC Robots (named Handsfree UVC decontamination devices) can automatically calculate the amount of UVC energy necessary to apply in each region (UVC cleaning systems Inc., 2021). The algorithm used ensures that all the areas in the environment receive adequate UV dosage (Mehta et al., 2023). Nevertheless, the use of computational fluid dynamics can be a very useful tool to estimate the UV dose for disinfection considering the area to disinfect, the target pathogens, and the regulatory aspects to be considered (Srivastava et al., 2021). The i-Robot UVC carries software to plan the disinfectant time considering the area to be disinfected, the temperature, and the humidity rate (Guettari et al., 2021).

6.2. Are UVC robots safe for humans?

Most of the studies that utilize UVC devices use pulsed xenon-UV technology followed by low-pressure mercury lamps and far-UVC. Therefore, UVC robots available in the market are often not suitable to operate in the simultaneous presence of humans. Only far-UVC devices with wavelengths of 222 nm have been suggested as viable for use in occupied rooms, as this wavelength might have more limited health effects (Graeffe et al., 2023). However, this safety aspect remains dubious (Graeffe et al., 2023).

Care222[™] using a 222 nm UVC-emitting KrCl excimer lamp module was found to be an alternative disinfection system for intermittently occupied spaces such as public toilets, being less harmful to humans (Kitagawa et al., 2021b). The CFU of aerobic bacteria collected from bathroom surfaces (e.g. toilet seat, a control panel of the electric toilet seat, and the top of the toilet paper holder) were reduced by 50 % when compared to nontreated surfaces after 18 h of exposure to UVC (Kitagawa et al., 2021b). Mehta et al. (2022) recently developed an advantageous far-UVC robot (G-Robot) over commercially available UVC robots, including its ability to be used in a context of human presence, and its improved disinfection effectiveness for cluttered and shadowed spaces (Mehta et al., 2022). Cleanse® Portal, developed by Healthé, was the first-ever human-safe far-UVC technology, disinfecting clothing and personal belongings in 20 s while covering 360° (Healhté By Lighting Science, 2020).

6.3. Limitations of UVC technological devices

6.3.1. Operational issues

UVC devices are increasingly advocated as a simple solution for the immediate disinfection of rooms and spaces in one process and are also attractive due to automation and apparent cost savings by reducing disinfection staff efforts. Despite offering a non-touch technology, UVC disinfection robots do not remove the biologically contaminated material (Diab-El Schahawi et al., 2021). Thus, UVC disinfection is typically complemented by manual cleaning and the application of chemical disinfectants (Astrid et al., 2021). Moreover, UVC disinfection does not offer the persistence of some chemical disinfectants and has limitations in penetrating organic and inorganic materials, reinforcing the relevance of a pre-cleaning process and complementary chemicalbased disinfection (Astrid et al., 2021). Elgujja et al. (2020) listed several limitations to existing applications of UV surface decontamination, with the key finding being that shadowed areas remain difficult to disinfect. A solution for shadowing limitations includes the use of a reflective chamber or reflective surfaces (Demeersseman et al., 2023).

Further technological development in sensing and smart aspects would allow a higher reproducibility, quality assurance and efficacy of the disinfection process while ensuring reduced maintenance costs. Analysis of the capital and operating costs of UVC robots for disinfection remains to be done. It is acceptable that UVC robots are more expensive than traditional chemical disinfectants. However, the return on investment will largely depend on the acquisition and energy costs.

6.3.2. Environmental and health safety issues

The environmental and health safety risks from using UVC irradiation vary with the UVC light source used. If UVC mercury lamps are used, environmental and health concerns from mercury use can be highlighted (Nyangaresi et al., 2018). Some UVC sources may generate ozone and other harmful gases, which may have respiratory implications (Claus, 2021). The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) advises that UVC lamps that emit ozone should not be used in closed premises without ventilation (Environmental Protection Agency - EPA, 2014). Another impact of UVC on atmospheric chemistry is the dramatic increase of pollutant microparticles and gas phase compounds, which affect indoor air quality (Graeffe et al., 2023).

Most of the existing UVC robots suffer from the inability to be used if a person is presented in a disinfecting environment, due to the potential risks of damaging skin and eyes, and even possible carcinogenic effects (Garciá De Abajo et al., 2020). However, these risks can be prevented by using a UVC disinfection system that does not require human intervention or using protective equipment against UVC light (Demeersseman et al., 2023). Only far-UVC devices have been accepted to be used in the presence of people (Kitagawa et al., 2021a). Most of the safety requirements regarding UVC exposure are based on the guidelines of The International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection (2004). Since the hazardous effects of UVC depend on the wavelength, the maximum exposure limit for radiation with a wavelength of 270 nm is 3 mJ/cm² and for

254 nm is 6 mJ/cm². Naturally, for the lower radiation wavelength of 222 nm (far-UVC), the maximum amount of light to which humans can be safely exposed is higher (23 mJ/cm²; for 8 h) (International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection, 2004).

7. Conclusions and perspectives

The SARS-CoV-2 pandemic led to an exponential interest in developing UVC-based devices for indoor space disinfection in addition to conventional preventive measures and the use of traditional disinfectants. UVC is a well-known and well-understood technology that could successfully inactivate pathogens, including viruses and bacteria. Therefore, an increased use of UVC-based devices has the potential to reduce the risks of airborne diseases and the dissemination of pathogens on surfaces of public spaces. These systems could not only be a powerful strategy to mitigate disinfection issues on hospital surfaces but are also promising for the food and water industry.

Automated UVC disinfecting solutions, such as UVC robots using advanced technologies emerged in the market, reducing the need for manual work. Contrary to most of the traditional disinfection approaches, UVC robots are recognized for not producing (eco)toxic disinfection by-products, carrying an environmentally friendly status. However, the absence of established protocols and guidelines to validate commercial UVC-based devices towards different pathogens and potential safety issues limit the use of this technology simultaneously with human presence. While some researchers propose that at the wavelength of 222 nm (far-UVC), UVC-based devices efficiently inactivate pathogens without harm to humans, others refer to this wavelength as potentially harmful for unprotected human exposure. Therefore, it is clear that UVC-based technologies are promising for the disinfection of microorganisms present in the air, liquids matrices and on surfaces. However, validation of environmental and public health risks even if potentially reduced, remains elusive.

Funding

This work was supported by the Associate Laboratory for Innovation in Chemical Engineering LA/P/0045/2020 (ALiCE), UIDB/00511/2020; UIDP/00511/2020 (LEPABE); PRESAGE - Aquatic/0007/2020, funded by national funds through Foundation for Science and Technology FCT/ MCTES (PIDDAC); Project Germirrad—POCI-01-0247-FEDER-072237 funded by FEDER funds through COMPETE2020 – Programa Operacional Competitividade e Internacionalização (POCI) and by national funds (PIDDAC) through FCT/MCTES; Project "HealthyWaters – Identification, Elimination, Social Awareness and Education of Water Chemical and Biological Micropollutants with Health and Environmental Implications", with reference NORTE-01-0145-FEDER-000069, supported by Norte Portugal Regional Operational Programme (NORTE 2020), under the PORTUGAL 2020 Partnership Agreement, through the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF).

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Conceptualization: A.R.P., D.B., M.V., I.B.G. and M.S.; methodology: A.R.P., I.B.G. and M.S.; investigation: A.R.P., D.B., M.V., I.B.G. and M.S.; resources: M.S.; data curation: A.R.P., M.V., and I.B.G. writing—original draft preparation: A.R.P.; writing—review and editing: D.B., M.V., I.B.G. and M.S.; supervision: I.B.G and M.S.; project administration: M.S.; funding acquisition: D.B. and M.S. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Data availability

No data was used for the research described in the article.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported.

References

- 59S Global Leader UVC Disinfection, 2021. Air sanitizing bar X50. https://www.prophotonix.com/ accessed 12.19.21.
- Addverb Technologies, 2023. DECIMATOR. https://addverb.com/ accessed 1.23.23.
- Agarwal, N., et al., 2021. Indoor air quality improvement in COVID-19 pandemic: review. SCS 70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2021.102942.
- Aisha, M.A., Maznah, W.O., 2018. Effect of ultraviolet radiation on the growth of microorganisms developing on cave wall paintings. AIP Conf. Proc. 1994. https://doi.org/10.1063/ 1.5048178.
- Aitheon, 2023. Reduce infections with UV disinfection robots. https://www.aitheon.com/ accessed 1.22.23.
- Amano, H., et al., 2020. The 2020 UV emitter roadmap. J. Phys. D. Appl. Phys. 53.
- Anderson, D.J., Moehring, R.W., Weber, D.J., Lewis, S.S., Chen, L.F., Schwab, J.C., Becherer, P., Blocker, M., 2018. Effectiveness of targeted enhanced terminal room disinfection on hospital-wide acquisition and infection with multidrug-resistant organisms and *Clostridium difficile*: a secondary analysis of a multicentre cluster randomised controlled trial with crossover. Lancet Infect. Dis. 3099, 1–9. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(18)30278-0.
- Astrid, F., Beata, Z., van den Nest, Miriam, Julia, E., Elisabeth, P., Magda, D.E., 2021. The use of a UVC disinfection robot in the routine cleaning process: a field study in an Academic hospital. Antimicrob. Resist. Infect. Control 10. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s13756-021-00945-4.
- Atlantic Ultraviolet Corporation, .. Atlantic Ultraviolet Corporation https://ultraviolet.com/ accessed 12.15.21.
- Aura Light, 2023. ZenZoe. https://auralightportugal.pt/ accessed 1.22.23.
- AVA Robotics Inc., 2021. AVA UV disinfection robots driving health and safety standards in the workplace. https://www.avarobotics.com/disinfectionrobots accessed 11.22.21.
- Biasin, M., Bianco, A., Pareschi, G., Cavalleri, A., Cavatorta, C., Fenizia, C., Galli, P., Lessio, L., Lualdi, M., Tombetti, E., Ambrosi, A., Redaelli, E.M.A., Saulle, I., Trabattoni, D., Zanutta, A., Clerici, M., 2021. UVC irradiation is highly effective in inactivating SARS-CoV-2 replication. Sci. Rep. 11, 6260. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-021-85425-w.
- Barnard, I.R.M., Eadie, E., Wood, K., 2020. Further evidence that far-UVC for disinfection is unlikely to cause erythema or pre-mutagenic DNA lesions in skin. Photodermatol. Photoimmunol. Photomed. 36, 476–477. https://doi.org/10.1111/phpp.12580.
- Beck, S.E., Hull, N.M., Poepping, C., Linden, K.G., 2018. Wavelength-dependent damage to adenoviral proteins across the germicidal UV spectrum. Environ. Sci. Technol. 52, 223–229. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.7b04602.
- Bhardwaj, S.K., Singh, H., Deep, A., Khatri, M., Bhaumik, J., Kim, K.H., Bhardwaj, N., 2021. UVC-based photoinactivation as an efficient tool to control the transmission of coronaviruses. Sci. Total Environ. 792. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021. 148548.
- Blatchley, E.R., Asce, A.M., Meeusen, A., Arthur, I.A., Brewster, L., 2005. Inactivation of Bacillus spores by ultraviolet or gamma radiation. Int. J. Environ. Eng. 131, 1245–1252. https://doi.org/10.1061/ASCE0733-93722005131:91245.
- BlueBotics, 2023. miniTM UVC. https://bluebotics.com/about/ accessed 1.22.23.
- Bosco, R., Cevenini, G., Gambelli, S., Nante, N., Messina, G., 2022. Improvement and standardization of disinfection in hospital theatre with ultraviolet-C technology. J. Hosp. Infect. 128, 19–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2022.07.006.
- Buonanno, M., Welch, D., Shuryak, I., Brenner, D.J., 2020. Far-UVC light (222 nm) efficiently and safely inactivates airborne human coronaviruses. Sci. Rep. 10, 1–8. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41598-020-67211-2.
- CETRIX Thinking Fresh, 2021. Charging Carts & Stations CETRIX. https://cetrixtablets.com/ accessed 1.23.22.
- Char, C.D., Mitilinaki, E., Guerrero, S.N., Alzamora, S.M., 2010. Use of high-intensity ultrasound and UVC light to inactivate some microorganisms in fruit juices. Food Bioprocess Technol. 3, 797–803. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11947-009-0307-7.
- Chen, B., Han, J., Dai, H., Jia, P., 2021. Biocide-tolerance and antibiotic-resistance in community environments and risk of direct transfers to humans: unintended consequences of community-wide surface disinfecting during COVID-19? Environ. Pollut. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.envpol.2021.117074.
- Claus, H., 2021. Ozone Generation by Ultraviolet Lamps. Photochem Photobiol 97, 471–476. https://doi.org/10.1111/php.13391.
- Corrêa, T.Q., Blanco, K.C., Vollet-Filho, J.D., Morais, V.S., Trevelin, W.R., Pratavieira, S., Bagnato, V.S., 2021. Efficiency of an air circulation decontamination device for microorganisms using ultraviolet radiation. J. Hosp. Infect. 115, 32–43. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jhin.2021.06.002.
- Crook, J.A., Rossitto, P.v., Parko, J., Koutchma, T., Cullor, J.S., 2015. Efficacy of ultraviolet (UVC) light in a thin-film turbulent flow for the reduction of milkborne pathogens. Foodborne Pathog. Dis. 12, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1089/fpd.2014.1843.
- Darnell, M.E.R., Subbarao, K., Feinstone, S.M., Taylor, D.R., 2004. Inactivation of the coronavirus that induces severe acute respiratory syndrome, SARS-CoV. J. Virol. Methods 121, 85–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2004.06.006.
- Delorme, M.M., Guimarães, J.T., Coutinho, N.M., Balthazar, C.F., Rocha, R.S., Silva, R., Margalho, L.P., Pimentel, T.C., Silva, M.C., Freitas, M.Q., Granato, D., Sant'Ana, A.S., Duart, M.C.K.H., Cruz, A.G., 2020. Ultraviolet radiation: an interesting technology to

preserve quality and safety of milk and dairy foods. Trends Food Sci. Technol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2020.06.001.

- Demeersseman, N., Saegeman, V., Cossey, V., Devriese, H., Schuermans, A., 2023. Shedding a light on ultraviolet-C technologies in the hospital environment. J. Hosp. Infect. 132, 85–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2022.12.009.
- Dewey, H.M., Jones, J.M., Keating, M.R., Budhathoki-Uprety, J., 2022. Increased use of disinfectants during the COVID-19 pandemic and its potential impacts on health and safety. ACS J. Chem. Health Saf. 29, 27–38. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chas. 1c00026.
- Diab-El Schahawi, M., Zingg, W., Vos, M., Humphreys, H., Lopez-Cerero, L., Fueszl, A., Zahar, J.R., Presterl, E., 2021. Ultraviolet disinfection robots to improve hospital cleaning: real promise or just a gimmick? Antimicrob. Resist. Infect. Control https://doi.org/10. 1186/s13756-020-00878-4.
- Diesler, K., Golombek, P., Kromm, L., Scharfenberger-schmeer, M., Durner, D., Schmarr, H., Stahl, M.R., Briviba, K., Fischer, U., 2019. UVC treatment of grape must: microbial inactivation, toxicological considerations and in fluence on chemical and sensory properties of white wine. Innov. Food Sci. Emerg. Technol. 52, 291–304. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ifset.2019.01.005.
- Drph, S.E.S., Jr, R.C., Alfson, K.J., Bs, H.M.S., Jinadatha, C., Jarvis, W.R., Sampathkumar, P., Chemaly, R.F., Khawaja, F., Pharmd, M.P., Jackson, S., Kaye, K.S., Rodriguez, R.M., Stibich, M.A., 2020. Deactivation of SARS-CoV-2 with pulsed-xenon ultraviolet light: implications for environmental COVID-19 control. Infect. Control Hosp. Epidemiol. 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1017/ice.2020.399.
- Dzierżek, K., Rećko, M., Zajkowski, M., Błaszczak, U., 2022. RobUV–Robotic decontamination system. Int. J. Mech. Eng. Robot. Res. 405–410. https://doi.org/10.18178/ ijmerr.11.6.405-410.
- Eadie, E., Hiwar, W., Fletcher, L., Tidswell, E., O'Mahoney, P., Buonanno, M., Welch, D., Adamson, C.S., Brenner, D.J., Noakes, C., Wood, K., 2022. Far-UVC (222 nm) efficiently inactivates an airborne pathogen in a room-sized chamber. Sci. Rep. 12. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41598-022-08462-z.
- Eickmann, M., Gravemann, U., Handke, W., Tolksdorf, F., Reichenberg, S., Müller, T.H., Seltsam, A., 2020. Inactivation of three emerging viruses – severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus, Crimean-Congo haemorrhagic fever virus and Nipah virus – in platelet concentrates by ultraviolet C light and in plasma by methylene blue plus visible light. Vox Sang. 115, 146–151. https://doi.org/10.1111/vox.12888.
- Elaine, B., 2020. Akara Robotics unveils ultraviolet disinfection robot with up to 99pc success rate. https://www.siliconrepublic.com/start-ups/akara-robotics-violetcovid-19-disinfection accessed 11.19.21.
- Elgujja, A., Altalhi, H., Ezreqat, S., 2020. Review of the efficacy of ultraviolet C for surface decontamination. J. Nat. Sci. Med. 3, 8. https://doi.org/10.4103/JNSM_JNSM_21_19.
- Eurotek Environmental Private Limited, 2021. UVC Scanz Plus sanitizing machine. https:// www.gkuvc.com/ accessed 12.12.21.
- Fino, V.R., Kniel, K.E., 2008. UV light inactivation of hepatitis A virus, Aichi virus, and feline calicivirus on strawberries, green onions, and lettuce. J. Food Prot. 71, 908–913. https:// doi.org/10.4315/0362-028x-71.5.908.
- Finsen technologies LTD, 2021. THOR® UVC room disinfection. https://www.reemanrobot. com/ accessed 12.28.21.
- Garciá De Abajo, F.J., Hernández, R.J., Kaminer, I., Meyerhans, A., Rosell-Llompart, J., Sanchez-Elsner, T., 2020. Back to normal: an old physics route to reduce SARS-CoV-2 transmission in indoor spaces. ACS Nano 14, 7704–7713. https://doi.org/10.1021/ acsnano.0c04596.
- Gayán, E., Monfort, S., Álvarez, I., Condón, S., 2011. UVC inactivation of *Escherichia coli* at different temperatures. Innov. Food Sci. Emerg. Technol. 12, 531–541. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ifset.2011.07.008.
- Gayán, E., Serrano, M.J., Monfort, S., Álvarez, I., Condón, S., 2012a. Combining ultraviolet light and mild temperatures for the inactivation of *Escherichia coli* in orange juice. J. Food Eng. 113, 598–605. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2012.07.018.
- Gayán, E., Serrano, M.J., Raso, J., Álvarez, I., Condón, S., 2012b. Inactivation of Salmonella enterica by UVC light alone and in combination with mild temperatures. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 78, 8353–8361. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02010-12.
- Gayán, E., Álvarez, I., Condón, S., 2013. Inactivation of bacterial spores by UVC light. Innov. Food Sci. Emerg. Technol. 19, 140–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ifset.2013.04.007.
- Golange, A., Madavi, P., Kalambe, A., Bhagat, A., Parate, A., Borade, M., Sajid, M., 2022. Ultraviolet disinfection robot. Int. Res. J. Mod.Eng. Technol. Sci. 4, 2582–5208.
- Gora, S.L., Rauch, K.D., Ontiveros, C.C., Stoddart, A.K., Gagnon, G.A., 2019. Inactivation of biofilm-bound *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* bacteria using UVC light emitting diodes (UVC LEDs). Water Res. 151, 193–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.12.021.
- Graeffe, F., Luo, Y., Guo, Y., Ehn, M., 2023. Unwanted indoor air quality effects from using ultraviolet C lamps for disinfection. Environ. Sci. Technol. Lett. https://doi.org/10. 1021/acs.estlett.2c00807.
- Guettari, M., Gharbi, I., Hamza, S., 2021. UVC disinfection robot. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 28, 40394–40399.
- Hadi, J., Dunowska, M., Wu, S., Brightwell, G., 2020. Control measures for SARS-CoV-2: a review on light-based inactivation of single-stranded RNA viruses. Pathogens 9, 737.
- Heinrich, V., Zunabovic, M., Bergmair, J., Kneifel, W., Jäger, H., 2015. Post-packaging application of pulsed light for microbial decontamination of solid foods: a review. Innov. Food Sci. Emerg. Technol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ifset.2015.06.005.
- Healhté By Lighting Science, 2020. Cleanse® portal UV sanitizing entry gate. https://www. shineretrofits.com/ accessed 1.24.23.
- Heraeus, 2023. Soluva products. https://www.heraeus.com/ accessed 1.22.23.
- Hong, H., Shin, W., Oh, J., Lee, S., Kim, T., Lee, W., Choi, J., Suh, S., Kim, K., 2021. Standard for the quantification of a sterilization effect using an artificial intelligence disinfection robot. Sensors 21, 7776. https://doi.org/10.3390/s21237776.
- Hurtado, M., Marquez, J., Sotelo, P., Cornejo, J., Palomares, R., 2022. Mechanic design and kinematic simulation of tri-star wheeled mobile robot for COVID-19 using UVC disinfection for public transport. 2022 First International Conference on Electrical, Electronics,

Information and Communication Technologies (ICEEICT). IEEE, pp. 1–8 https://doi.org/ 10.1109/ICEEICT53079.2022.9768432.

iBEN Robot, 2021. iBEN Robot. https://www.ibenrobot.com/ accessed 1.23.22.

ICA Group, 2022. Hero 21. https://ica.de/en/health-startpage/ accessed 1.22.23.

- Inagaki, H., Saito, A., Sugiyama, H., Okabayashi, T., 2020. Rapid inactivation of SARS-CoV-2 with deep-UV LED irradiation. Emerg. Microbes Infect., 1–8 https://doi.org/10.1080/ 22221751.2020.1796529.
- International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection, 2004. Guidelines on limits of exposure to ultraviolet radiation of wavelengths between 180 nm and 400 nm (incoherent optical radiation). Health Phys. 87, 171–186. https://doi.org/10.1097/ 00004032-200408000-00006.
- Jean, J., Morales-rayas, R., Anoman, M., Lamhoujeb, S., 2011. Inactivation of hepatitis A virus and norovirus surrogate in suspension and on food-contact surfaces using pulsed UV light (pulsed light inactivation of food-borne viruses). Food Microbiol. 28, 568–572. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.fm.2010.11.012.
- Kampf, G., 2018. Adaptive microbial response to low-level benzalkonium chloride exposure. J. Hosp. Infect. 100, e1–e22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2018.05.019.
- Kang, J.W., Kim, S.S., Kang, D.H., 2018. Inactivation dynamics of 222 nm krypton-chlorine excilamp irradiation on Gram-positive and Gram-negative foodborne pathogenic bacteria. Food Res. J. 109, 325–333. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2018.04.018. Kariwa, H., Takashima, I., 2006. Inactivation of SARS coronavirus by means of povidone-
- Kariwa, H., Takashima, I., 2006. Inactivation of SARS coronavirus by means of povidoneiodine, physical conditions and chemical reagents. Dermatology 212, 119–123. https:// doi.org/10.1159/000089211.
- Kitagawa, H., Nomura, T., Nazmul, T., Omori, K., Shigemoto, N., Sakaguchi, T., Ohge, H., 2021a. Effectiveness of 222-nm ultraviolet light on disinfecting SARS-CoV-2 surface contamination. Am. J. Infect. Control 49, 299–301. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajic.2020.08. 022.
- Kitagawa, H., Kaiki, Y., Tadera, K., Nomura, T., Omori, K., 2021b. Pilot study on the decontamination efficacy of an installed 222-nm ultraviolet disinfection device (Care222TM), with a motion sensor, in a shared bathroom. Photodiagn. Photodyn. Ther. 34, 102334. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pdpdt.2021.102334.
- Khan, M., McDonald, M., Mundada, K., Willcox, M., 2022. Efficacy of ultraviolet radiations against coronavirus, bacteria, fungi, fungal spores and biofilm. Hygiene 2, 120–131. https://doi.org/10.3390/hygiene2030010.
- Kowalski, W.J., et al., 2000. Mathematical modeling of ultraviolet germicidal irradiation for air disinfection. Quant. Microbiol. 2, 249–270. https://doi.org/10.1023/A: 1013951313398.
- Koutchma, T., Parisi, B., Patazca, E., 2007. Validation of UV coiled tube reactor for fresh juices. J. Environ. Eng. Sci. 6, 319–328. https://doi.org/10.1139/s06-058.
- Kucharski, A.J., Russell, T.W., Diamond, C., Liu, Y., Edmunds, J., Funk, S., Eggo, R.M., Sun, F., Jit, M., Munday, J.D., Davies, N., Gimma, A., van Zandvoort, K., Gibbs, H., Hellewell, J., Jarvis, C.I., Clifford, S., Quilty, B.J., Bosse, N.I., Abbott, S., Klepac, P., Flasche, S., 2020. Early dynamics of transmission and control of COVID-19: a mathematical modelling study. Lancet Infect Dis 20, 553–558. https://doi.org/10. 1016/S1473-3099(20)30144-4.
- Kurniawan, I.T., Adiprawita, W., 2021. Autonomy design and development for an ultravioletc healthcare surface disinfection robot. 2021 International Symposium on Electronics And Smart Devices (ISESD). IEEE, pp. 1–6 https://doi.org/10.1109/ISESD53023.2021. 9501737 accessed 1.22.23.
- Liang, J.-J., Liao, C.-C., Chang, C.-S., Lee, C.-Y., Chen, S.-Y., Huang, S.-B., Yeh, Y.-F., Singh, K.J., Kuo, H.-C., Lin, Y.-L., Lu, K.-M., 2021. The effectiveness of far-ultraviolet (UVC) light prototype devices with different wavelengths on disinfecting SARS-CoV-2. Appl. Sci. 11, 10661. https://doi.org/10.3390/app112210661.
- loop robots, 2022. SAM technology. https://www.looprobots.com/ accessed 1.22.23.
- Lorca-Oró, C., Vila, J., Pleguezuelos, P., Vergara-Alert, J., Rodon, J., Majó, N., López, S., Segalés, J., Saldaña-Buesa, F., Visa-Boladeras, M., Veà-Baró, A., Campistol, J.M., Abad, X., 2022. Rapid SARS-CoV-2 inactivation in a simulated hospital room using a mobile and autonomous robot emitting ultraviolet-C light. J. Infect. Dis. 225, 587–592. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiab551.
- Loutreul, J., Estienney, M., Cazeaux, C., Nicorescu, I., Aho, S., Gervais, P., Orange, N., Pothier, P., Morin, T., 2013. Potential of pulsed light to inactivate bacteriophage MS2 in simple liquid medium and on complex foodstuffs. Food Environ. Virol. 5, 176–179. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s12560-013-9110-8.
- Lui, G.Y., Roser, D., Corkish, R., Ashbolt, N., Jagals, P., Stuetz, R., 2014. Photovoltaic powered ultraviolet and visible light-emitting diodes for sustainable point-of-use disinfection of drinking waters. Sci. Total Environ. 493, 185–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv. 2014.05.104.
- Luo, L.-W., Wu, Y.-H., Yu, T., Wang, Y.-H., Chen, G.-Q., Tong, X., Bai, Y., Xu, C., Wang, H.-B., Ikuno, N., Hu, H.-Y., 2021. Evaluating method and potential risks of chlorine-resistant bacteria (CRB): a review. Water Res. 188, 116474. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres. 2020.116474.
- Ma, B., Gundy, P.M., Gerba, C.P., Sobsey, M.D., Linden, K.G., 2021. UV inactivation of SARS-CoV-2 across the UVC spectrum: KrCl* excimer, mercury-vapor, and light-emitting-diode (LED) sources. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 87. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01532-21.
- Mahida, N., Vaughan, N., Boswell, T., 2013. First UK evaluation of an automated ultraviolet-C room decontamination device (Tru-D). J. Hosp. Infect. 84, 332–335. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jhin.2013.05.005.
- Mandal, R., Mohammadi, X., Wiktor, A., Singh, A., Singh, A.P., 2020. Applications of pulsed light decontamination technology in food processing: an overview. Appl. Sci. 10. https://doi.org/10.3390/app10103606.
- Marques, J.M.C., Ramalingam, R., Pan, Z., Hauser, K., 2021. Optimized Coverage Planning for UV Surface Disinfection, pp. 1–13.
- Martínez de Alba, A.E., Rubio, M.B., Morán-Diez, M.E., Bernabéu, C., Hermosa, R., Monte, E., 2021. Microbiological evaluation of the disinfecting potential of UVC and UVC plus ozone generating robots. Microorganisms 9, 172. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms9010172.

- Matthew, U.O., Nwanakwaugwu, A.C., Kazaure, J.S., Nwamouh, U.C., Haruna, K., Okafor, N.U., Olawoyin, O.O., 2022. Ultra violet (UV) light irradiation device for hospital disinfection. Int. J. Inf. Commun. Technol. Hum.Dev. 14, 1–24. https://doi.org/10.4018/ LJICTHD.313978.
- McGinn, C., Scott, R., Donnelly, N., Roberts, K.L., Bogue, M., Kiernan, C., Beckett, M., 2021. Exploring the applicability of robot-assisted UV disinfection in radiology. Front. Robot. AI 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/frobt.2020.590306.
- Medical Expo, 2023. UV disinfection robots. https://www.medicalexpo.com/ accessed 1.22.23.
- Mehta, I., Hsueh, H.Y., Kourtzanidis, N., Brylka, M., Saeedi, S., 2022. Far-UVC disinfection with robotic mobile manipulator. 2022 International Symposium on Medical Robotics, ISMR 2022. Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc. https://doi.org/10. 1109/ISMR48347.2022.9807593.
- Mehta, I., Hsueh, H.-Y., Taghipour, S., Li, W., Saeedi, S., 2023. UV disinfection robots: a review. Rob. Auton. Syst. 161, 104332. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.robot.2022.104332.
- Microchem Laboratory, 2021. UV room disinfection devices. https://microchemlab.com/ accessed 12.15.21.
- Mikhailovskiy, N., Sedunin, A., Perminov, S., Kalinov, I., Tsetserukou, D., 2021. UltraBot: autonomous mobile robot for indoor UVC disinfection with non-trivial shape of disinfection zone. 2021 26th IEEE International Conference on Emerging Technologies And Factory Automation (ETFA). IEEE, pp. 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1109/ETFA45728.2021. 9613707 accessed 11.22.21.
- Milvus Robotics, 2020. SEIT-UV cutting-edge UV disinfectant. https://milvusrobotics.com/.
- Minamikawa, T., Koma, T., Suzuki, A., Mizuno, T., Nagamatsu, K., Arimochi, H., Tsuchiya, K., Matsuoka, K., Yasui, T., Yasutomo, K., Nomaguchi, M., 2021. Quantitative evaluation of SARS-CoV-2 inactivation using a deep ultraviolet light-emitting diode. Sci. Rep. 11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-84592-0.
- Mobile Robot Guide, 2020. Introducing the intelligent disinfection robot by TMiRob. https:// mobilerobotguide.com/ accessed 1.23.23.
- Mobile Industrial Robots, 2023. HoST- UVC disinfection robot. https://www.mobileindustrial-robots.com/ accessed 1.22.23.
- Narita, K., Asano, K., Naito, K., Ohashi, H., Sasaki, M., Morimoto, Y., Igarashi, T., Nakane, A., 2020. Ultraviolet C light with wavelength of 222 nm inactivates a wide spectrum of microbial pathogens. J. Hosp. Infect. 105, 459–467. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jhin.2020.03.030.
- Nerandzic, M.M., Cadnum, J.L., Pultz, M.J., Donskey, C.J., 2010. Evaluation of an automated ultraviolet radiation device for decontamination of *Clostridium difficile* and other healthcare-associated pathogens in hospital rooms. BMC Infect. Dis. 10, 197.
- Nontaleerak, B., Duang-nkern, J., Wongsaroj, L., Trinachartvanit, W., Romsang, A., Mongkolsuk, S., 2020. Roles of RcsA, an AhpD family protein, in reactive chlorine stress resistance and virulence in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 86. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01480-20.
- Nyangaresi, P.O., Qin, Y., Chen, G., Zhang, B., Lu, Y., Shen, L., 2018. Effects of single and combined UV-LEDs on inactivation and subsequent reactivation of *E. coli* in water disinfection. Water Res. 147, 331–341. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.10.014.
- OhmniLabs, 2023. Powerful disinfection robot for safer, healthier spaces. https://ohmnilabs.com/.
- OMRON Corporation, 2021. UVC Robot helps businesses win the fight against COVID. Colaborative Robotics. https://industrial.omron.eu/en/solutions/blog/toplineuvc-robot.
- Park, S., Mistrick, R., Rim, D., 2022. Performance of upper-room ultraviolet germicidal irradiation (UVGI) system in learning environments: effects of ventilation rate, UV fluence rate, and UV radiating volume. SCS 85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scs. 2022.104048.
- Parveen, N., Chowdhury, S., Goel, S., 2022. Environmental impacts of the widespread use of chlorine-based disinfectants during the COVID-19 pandemic. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. Int. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-021-18316-2.
- Ploydaeng, M., Rajatanavin, N., Rattanakaemakorn, P., 2021. UV-C light: a powerful technique for inactivating microorganisms and the related side effects to the skin. Photodermatol. Photoimmunol. Photomed. 37, 12–19. https://doi.org/10.1111/ phpp.12605.
- Rachel, G., 2020. CSAIL robot disinfects Greater Boston Food Bank. https://news.mit.edu/ 2020/csail-robot-disinfects-greater-boston-food-bank-covid-19-0629.
- Radium, 2022. Air disinfection with UVC radiation. https://www.radium.de/en/airdisinfection accessed 30.11.22.
- Raeiszadeh, M., Adeli, B., 2020. A critical review on ultraviolet disinfection systems against COVID-19 outbreak: applicability, validation, and safety considerations. ACS Photonics https://doi.org/10.1021/acsphotonics.0c01245.
- Raeiszadeh, M., Taghipour, F., 2019. Microplasma UV lamp as a new source for UV-induced water treatment: protocols for characterization and kinetic study. Water Res. 164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2019.114959.
- Rajeev Chitguppi, D.T.S.A., 2020. How to use Ultraviolet light (UVC) to fight COVID-19 effectively in dental clinics: Dr Ajay Bajaj. https://in.dental-tribune.com/.
- Rajkovic, A., Tomasevic, I., de Meulenaer, B., Devlieghere, F., 2017. The effect of pulsed UV light on *Escherichia coli* O157:H7, *Listeria monocytogenes, Salmonella* typhimurium, *Staphylococcus aureus* and staphylococcal enterotoxin A on sliced fermented salami and its chemical quality. Food Control 73, 829–837. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2016.09.029.
- Reed, N.G., 2010. The history of ultraviolet germicidal irradiation for air disinfection. Public Health Rep. 125, 15–27.
- Robinson, R.T., Mahfooz, N., Rosas-Mejia, O., Liu, Y., Hull, N.M., 2022. UV222 disinfection of SARS-CoV-2 in solution. Sci. Rep. 12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-18385-4.
- RobotLAB technologies, 2021. CONNOR UVC disinfection robot Robot For Health Monitoring. https://www.robotlab.com/ accessed 12.13.21.
- Robots, U., 2021. UVD Robots. https://uvd.blue-ocean-robotics.com/applications accessed 1.22.23.

Rowan, N.J., 2019. Pulsed light as an emerging technology to cause disruption for food and adjacent industries – quo vadis? Trends Food Sci. Technol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tifs.2019.03.027.

- Rusdinar, A., Purnama, I., Fuadi, A.Z., Adiluhung, H., Wicaksono, M., Risnanda, Ningrum, R.A., 2021. Automated ultraviolet C light mobile robot for room sterilization and disinfection. Int. J. Technol. 12, 854–864. https://doi.org/10.14716/ijtech.v12i4.4817.
- Rutala, W.A., Gergen, M.F., Ascp, M.T., Weber, D.J., 2014. Room decontamination with UV radiation. Infect. Control Hosp. Epidemiol. 31, 1025–1029. https://doi.org/10. 1086/656244.
- Rutala, W.A., Gergen, M.F., Tande, B.M., Weber, D.J., 2013. Rapid hospital room decontamination using ultraviolet (UV) light with a nanostructured UV-reflective wall coating. Infect. Control Hosp. Epidemiol. 34, 527–529. https://doi.org/10.1086/670211.
- Schenk, M., Raffellini, S., Guerrero, S., Blanco, G.A., Maris, S., 2011. Inactivation of Escherichia coli, Listeria innocua and Saccharomyces cerevisiae by UVC light: study of cell injury by flow cytometry. LWTFood Sci. Technol. 44, 191–198. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.lwt.2010.05.012.

Sedaghat, M., Madani, P., Alvari, Y., Jahangiri, A., 2022. Studying the effect of a disinfection robot using UVC lights, on fungi and microbes in the hospital environment. EasyChair.

- Seok, H., Bae, J.Y., Jeon, J.H., Lee, G.E., Choi, W.S., Park, M.S., Park, D.W., 2022. Feasibility of ultraviolet light-emitting diode irradiation robot for terminal decontamination of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) patient rooms. Infect. Control Hosp. Epidemiol. 43, 232–237. https://doi.org/10.1017/ice.2021.95.
- Sesti-Costa, R., Negrão, C. von Z., Shimizu, J.F., Nagai, A., Tavares, R.S.N., Adamoski, D., Costa, W., Fontoura, M.A., da Silva, T.J., de Barros, A., Girasole, A., de Carvalho, M., Teixeira, V.de C., Ambrosio, A.L.B., Granja, F., Proença-Módena, J.L., Marques, R.E., Dias, S.M.G., 2022. UV 254 nm is more efficient than UV 222 nm in inactivating SARS-CoV-2 present in human saliva. Photodiagn. Photodyn. Ther. 39, 103015. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.pdpdt.2022.103015.
- Simões, M., Simões, L.C., Pereira, M.O., Vieira, M.J., 2008. Antagonism between Bacillus cereus and Pseudomonas fluorescens in planktonic systems and in biofilms. Biofouling 24, 339–349. https://doi.org/10.1080/08927010802239154.
- Singh, H., Bhardwaj, S.K., Khatri, M., Kim, K., Bhardwaj, N., 2021. UVC radiation for food safety: an emerging technology for the microbial disinfection of food products. Chem. Eng. J. 417, 128084. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2020.128084.
- SKYTRON, 2021. Single-cycle, whole-room disinfection. https://www.skytron.com/ products/infection-prevention/uvc-light-disinfection-robots/ accessed 12.25.21.
- SmartGuardUV, 2021. SmartGuard UV disinfection robot. https://smartguarduv.com/ accessed 1.23.23.
- Song, K., Mohseni, M., Taghipour, F., 2019. Mechanisms investigation on bacterial inactivation through combinations of UV wavelengths. Water Res. 163, 114875. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2019.114875.
- Srivastava, S., Zhao, X., Manay, A., Chen, Q., 2021. Effective ventilation and air disinfection system for reducing coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) infection risk in office buildings. SCS 75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2021.103408.
- steripro, 2023. The most effective disinfection robot on the market. https://www.uvcsolutions.com/.
- Stibich, M., Stachowiak, J., 2016. The microbiological impact of pulsed xenon ultraviolet disinfection on resistant bacteria, bacterial spore and fungi and viruses. S. Afr. J. Infect. Dis. 31, 12–15. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajid.v31i1.103.
- Stojalowski, P., Fairfoull, J., 2021. Comparison of reflective properties of materials exposed to ultraviolet-C radiation. J. Res. Natl. Inst. Stand. Technol. 126. https://doi.org/10.6028/ JRES.126.017.
- Sun, Z., Li, M., Li, W., Qiang, Z., 2022. A review of the fluence determination methods for UV reactors: ensuring the reliability of UV disinfection. Chemosphere https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.chemosphere.2021.131488.
- Taylor, P., Bak, J., Ladefoged, S.D., Tvede, M., Begovic, T., Gregersen, A., 2010. Disinfection of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilm contaminated tube lumens with ultraviolet C light emitting diodes. Biofouling, 37–41 https://doi.org/10.1080/08927010903191353.
- Tseng, C., Li, C., 2007. Inactivation of viruses on surfaces by ultraviolet germicidal irradiation. J. Occup. Environ. Hyg. 4, 400–405. https://doi.org/10.1080/15459620701329012.

- Tseng, C.C., Li, C.S., 2005. Inactivation of virus-containing aerosols by ultraviolet germicidal irradiation. Aerosol Sci. Technol. 39, 1136–1142. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 02786820500428575.
- Tuleshov, A., Jamalov, N., Imanbayeva, N., Rakhmatulina, A., 2022. Design and construction of a multifunctional disinfection robot. East.Eur.J. Enterp. Technol. 1, 16–23. https://doi. org/10.15587/1729-4061.2022.252045.
- UVC cleaning systems Inc., 2021. UVC Cleaning Systems Inc. Is Helping Solve the Pandemic the faster, safer way to protect everyone. https://www.uvccleaningsystems.com/ accessed 1.22.23.

UVC Light, 2020. UVC disinfection robot. https://www.uvclight.co.uk/ accessed 1.22.23.

- Vimont, A., Fliss, I., Jean, J., 2015. Efficacy and mechanisms of murine norovirus inhibition by pulsed-light technology. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 81, 2950–2957. https://doi.org/ 10.1128/AEM.03840-14.
- VitroSteril, 2022. Robot disinfector Y-C2 presented at the Exposanità 2022 fair in Bologna. https://vitrosteril.com/ accessed 30.11.22.
- Vo, E., Rengasamy, S., Shaffer, R., 2009. Development of a test system to evaluate procedures for decontamination of respirators containing viral droplets. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 75, 7303–7309. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00799-09.
- WAKU Robotics GmbH, 2023. YOUIBOT ARIS-K2 UV disinfection robot. https://www. lotsofbots.com/ accessed 1.24.23.
- Wan, Q., Wen, G., Cao, R., Xu, X., Zhao, H., Li, K., Wang, J., Huang, T., 2020. Comparison of UV-LEDs and LPUV on inactivation and subsequent reactivation of waterborne fungal spores. Water Res. 173, 115553. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2020.115553.
- Wan, Q., Wen, G., Cui, Y., Cao, R., Xu, X., Wu, G., Wang, J., Huang, T., 2023. Occurrence and control of fungi in water: new challenges in biological risk and safety assurance. Sci. Total Environ. 860, 160536. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.160536.
- Wang, D., Oppenländer, T., El-Din, M.G., Bolton, J.R., 2010. Comparison of the disinfection effects of vacuum-UV (VUV) and UV light on *Bacillus subtilis* spores in aqueous suspensions at 172, 222 and 254 nm. Photochem. Photobiol. 86, 176–181. https://doi.org/10. 1111/j.1751-1097.2009.00640.x.
- Wang, F., Nisar, H.J., Li, Y., Araud, E., Nguyen, T.H., Kesavadas, T., 2022. Low-cost UVBot using SLAM to mitigate the spread of noroviruses in occupational spaces. Sensors 22, 8926. https://doi.org/10.3390/s22228926.
- Welch, D., Buonanno, M., Grilj, V., Shuryak, I., Crickmore, C., Bigelow, A.W., Randers-Pehrson, G., Johnson, G.W., Brenner, D.J., 2018. Far-UVC light: a new tool to control the spread of airborne-mediated microbial diseases. Sci. Rep. 8, 1–7. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41598-018-21058-w.
- Wong, T., Woznow, T., Petrie, M., Murzello, E., Muniak, A., Kadora, A., Bryce, E., 2016. Postdischarge decontamination of MRSA, VRE, and *Clostridium difficile* isolation rooms using 2 commercially available automated ultraviolet-C-emitting devices. Am. J. Infect. Control 44, 416–420. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajic.2015.10.016.
- Yin, F., Zhu, Y., Koutchma, T., Gong, J., 2015. Inactivation and potential reactivation of pathogenic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 in apple juice following ultraviolet light exposure at three monochromatic wavelengths. Food Microbiol. 46, 329–335. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. fm.2014.08.015.
- Wuhan Donglisheng ME Technol. Co., 2021. CE FCC UV lamp mobile hospital school disinfection sterilizer robot. https://dls-me.en.made-in-china.com/ accessed 1.22.23.
- Zaman, A., Shahjahan Majib, M., Tanjim, S.A., Siddique, S.M.A., Islam, S., Aadeeb, M.S., Khan, N.I., Haque, R., Islam, M.R.U., Faisal, M.R.F., Malik, S., Islam, M.N., 2022. UVC-PURGE: a novel cost-effective disinfection robot for combating COVID-19 pandemic. IEEE Access 10, 37613–37634. https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2022.3163243.
- Zhang, H., Lai, A.C.K., 2022. Evaluation of single-pass disinfection performance of far-UVC light on airborne microorganisms in duct flows. Environ. Sci. Technol. 56, 17849–17857. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.2c04861.
- Zhang, T., Wang, T., Mejia-Tickner, B., Kissel, J., Xie, X., Huang, C.H., 2020. Inactivation of bacteria by peracetic acid combined with ultraviolet irradiation: mechanism and optimization. Environ. Sci. Technol. 54, 9652–9661. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.0c02424.
- Zou, X.Y., Lin, Y.-L., Xu, B., Cao, T.-C., Tang, Y.-L., Pan, Y., Gao, Z.-C., Gao, N.-Y., 2019. Enhanced inactivation of E. coli by pulsed UV-LED irradiation during water disinfection. Sci. Total Environ. 650, 210–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.08.367.